# A Review and Gap Analysis of Housing, Mental Health & Substance Use Services for People Experiencing Homelessness in Guelph Final Report

Prepared by: Collective Results Inc. August 2023



## **Table of Contents**

Executive Summary 4
Project Background10
Project Overview
Purpose
Objectives and Research Questions11
Approach15
Project Scope
Project Limitations
Findings (Housing)
Guelph Community Consultations Findings (Housing)
Key Definitions
Inventory of Services
Current State from the Perspective of PWLE29
Assets
Barriers
Overlaps and Duplications
Gaps
Solutions
Partner Collaboration
System-Wide Scan Findings (Housing)
Overview
Emerging or Best Practices
Funding Considerations
CMSM-City Relationship
Key Takeaways (Housing)
Findings (Mental Health)
Guelph Community Consultations Findings (Mental Health)
Key Definitions
Inventory of Services

Current State from the Perspective of PWLE55
Assets
Barriers
Overlaps and Duplications
Gaps
Solutions
Partner Collaboration61
System-Wide Scan Findings (Mental Health)62
Overview
Emerging or Best Practices
Funding Considerations
Key Takeaways (Mental Health)
Findings (Substance Use)
Guelph Community Consultations Findings (Substance Use)
Key Definitions
Inventory of Services
Current State from the Perspective of PWLE71
Assets
Barriers72
Overlaps and Duplications
Gaps
Solutions
Partner Collaboration
System-Wide Scan Findings (Substance Use)77
Overview
Emerging or Best Practices77
Funding Considerations
Key Takeaways (Substance Use)
Overarching Takeaways
Recommendations
References
Appendix A: Local Data Scan
Appendix B: Additional Definitions

## **Executive Summary**

Urgent issues related to homelessness, mental health and substance use are increasingly being brought to the attention of the City of Guelph (the City). The City has received and anticipates that it will continue to receive requests to fund housing services, mental health services and substance use services for people experiencing homelessness. The City is seeking a framework that will provide clarity on system roles and responsibilities to support an intentional and coordinated approach to planning, as opposed to a fragmented and reactionary approach to these complex issues. The purpose of this project was to provide the City with an assessment and gap review related to:

Housing services for adults 18 years old+ experiencing homelessness in Guelph Mental health services for adults 18 years old+ in Guelph Substance use services for adults 18 years old+ in Guelph

This project was approached with two focused streams of data collection and analysis. The comprehensive community consultation process aimed to determine the local current state of services and funding, to identify gaps and areas of opportunity. This stream included an inventory of local services (17 agencies completed), community partner survey (106 completed), key informant interviews (23 agencies completed), peer-led interviews with people with lived/living experience (PWLE) interviews (35 completed) and data validation meetings (3 completed). The multi-level governmental system-wide scan aimed to determine services and funding at the federal, provincial and municipal-levels (in similar-sized communities), and to identify innovative/emerging best practices and funding opportunities. This stream included an environmental scan and key informant interviews (15 completed). The findings were consolidated to identify key themes and recommended areas of action for the City.

## **Recommendations and Key Findings**

#### **Systems Level Recommendations**

Systems level recommendations are those that span across housing, substance use and mental health. The overarching systems level recommendations are intended to promote cross-sectoral and intergovernmental collaboration.

# System Recommendation 1: The City of Guelph adopt a human rights-based approach to housing (with Housing First built in) to align with the National Housing Strategy.

This recommendation is based on the following key findings:

• A human rights-based approach to housing needs to be prioritized in Guelph. This approach will provide the City with the needed framework, rooted in legislation (the

National Housing Strategy Act, 2021), to support people experiencing homelessness in the community.

System Recommendation 2: Council requests that the Government of Ontario develop and adopt a provincial housing strategy with measurable targets and sufficient funds for ending homelessness and ensuring access of all Ontarians, including those of limited income, to housing of an adequate standard without discrimination. It should also take into consideration the needs of Indigenous people, LGBTQ2S+ people, people with disabilities including mental illness, women experiencing domestic violence, lone parents, immigrants and newcomers, and people living in poverty or with low incomes.

This recommendation is based on the following key findings:

• Funding barriers currently exist for an integrated systems approach to occur. Greater investments and flexibility with how and where funding can be used is required across all service areas to meet community needs.

#### System Recommendation 3: Council requests that the Guelph Wellington Ontario Health Team work with the Guelph and Wellington Task Force for Poverty Elimination to:

- a. plan for the integration of health services in the housing sector (wraparound supports)
- b. address the community need for permanent supportive housing

## This planning should include City, County and Ontario Health West representation and be aligned with provincial direction and/or strategy.

This recommendation is based on the following key findings:

- There is a need for greater collaboration and systems level planning to support integration of housing services, mental health services and substance use services for people experiencing homelessness. There is a lack of alignment across these service areas locally, with a siloed approach.
- There is a need to focus on permanent supportive housing, including investments in both capital and operational expenditures, along with outcome evaluation measures built in to best support the most vulnerable in our community. This type of investment would support a human rights-based approach to housing.

# System Recommendation 4: Council requests the County of Wellington, in collaboration with local municipalities and local health organizations, jointly advocate to the Ministry of Health to provide accessible base funding to support wraparound health supports on the left side of the housing continuum.

This recommendation is based on the following key findings:

• While there is an identified need to better integrate mental health services and substance use services with the left side of the housing continuum, there are funding limitations from the Ministry of Health to integrate these services.

System Recommendation 5: Council requests that the Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health Board of Health lead an ongoing, comprehensive outcome evaluation of the systems level approach to homelessness (housing, mental health and substance use focus), whether it be working with the Guelph Wellington Ontario Health Team or with the City and the County. This recommendation is based on the following key findings:

- There is a need for greater collaboration and systems level planning to support integration of housing services, mental health services and substance use services for people experiencing homelessness. There is a lack of alignment across these service areas locally, with a siloed approach.
- There are only a few examples of programs across the province that attempt to measure the impact and outcomes of housing services for people experiencing homelessness. Measurement tends to focus on process measures (e.g., number of people, costs etc.) as opposed to client outcomes. This limits our understanding of how the overall system, including specific services within the system, meet/do not meet immediate and longterm outcomes.

System Recommendation 6: Council requests that the Chamber of Commerce approach developers to donate land for housing needs and wraparound services on the left side of the housing continuum including, but not limited to, emergency shelters, transitional housing, supportive housing and wellness hubs. The City must be prepared to facilitate the required approvals connected with these opportunities. This should directly connect with the local collaborative plans (see System Recommendation 3).

This recommendation is based on the following key findings:

- Greater investments and flexibility with how and where funding can be used is required across all service areas to meet community needs.
- There is a lack of daytime low-barrier locations for people with substance issues to go to for social support, recreational opportunities, safe consumption and support services (e.g., similar to the Grove Youth Wellness Hub, but for adults). The Kingston Integrated Care Hub is a promising model that provides this type of support in one location.

#### **Housing Focused Recommendations**

Housing focused recommendations are those that are specific to housing. These recommendations are complementary to, and align with, the systems level recommendations.

Housing Recommendation 1: Council requests the following to establish clarity and accountability regarding the City and the County's role in the housing continuum:

- a. A review of the governance model of the County of Wellington's Social Services Committee
- b. Updated service level agreements, with measurable outcomes, key performance indicators and clear expectations for reporting process and frequency
- c. The City of Guelph should hire a dedicated role to support (a), (b), and the implementation of a human rights-based approach to housing (see System Recommendation 1). This role should be an active member of the County of Wellington's Community Advisory Board.

This recommendation is based on the following key findings:

• In Wellington County, homelessness is most visible in Guelph. For this reason, services on the far left of the housing continuum (e.g., emergency shelters) are all based in

Guelph. This has led to confusion regarding roles, responsibilities, accountabilities and ownership of the left side of the housing continuum from partners and the community.

• The identified lack of a systems level collaborative approach to housing has and will continue to impact the ability to develop and implement community-based solutions in Guelph. A systems level collaborative model requires a commitment to a shared vision, accountability, defined mandates and roles.

Housing Recommendation 2: Council requests that City staff undertake a review of the City's role and process in informing funding decisions for housing services on the left-side of the housing continuum (this includes funding for daytime shelter space). This should directly connect with a human rights-based approach to housing (see System Recommendation 1), the local collaborative plans (see System Recommendation 3), and the City's role in the housing continuum (see Housing Recommendation 1).

This recommendation is based on the following key findings:

- The identified lack of a systems level collaborative approach to housing has and will continue to impact the ability to develop and implement community-based solutions in Guelph. A systems level collaborative model requires a commitment to a shared vision, accountability, defined mandates and roles.
- Funding for housing services on the left side of the housing continuum was a noted challenge across municipalities in Ontario. Some municipalities are looking for creative ways to flow housing funds into the community to best meet community needs

Housing Recommendation 3: To be reviewed in Closed Session with Council.

## **Health Services Focused Recommendations**

Health services focused recommendations are those that are specific to health services, including mental health and substance use. These recommendations are complementary to, and align with, the systems level recommendations.

# Health Services Recommendation 1: Council requests that City staff provide CMHA Waterloo Wellington with a letter of support for the funding application to the Ministry of Health for a regional alternate care destination clinic.

This recommendation is based on the following key findings:

- The Alternate Care Destination Model (in London, Ontario) is an emerging best practice approach to provide mental health services outside of a hospital setting. Community partners in Guelph are preparing a funding proposal with support from Ontario Health West for this model to be developed and implemented in Guelph. There is not currently a dedicated funding stream to support this model.
- There is a lack of discharge planning for hospital/rehabilitation programs to communitybased mental health services and supports. This was noted as a system gap in the system wide scan in other communities as well.
- There is a lack of discharge planning for hospital/rehabilitation programs to communitybased substance use services and supports.

Health Services Recommendation 2: Council requests that the Ministry of Health provide clarity on how all mental health services in Guelph are funded, including community-based services, hospital/residential services and public-private models of care, to determine if the funding model impacts equitable access to mental health services in Guelph.

This recommendation is based on the following key findings:

• The most vulnerable in our community without the means to pay out of pocket for services experience challenges and barriers in accessing mental health services.

Health Services Recommendation 3: Council supports the Guelph Police Service (GPS) and CMHA Waterloo Wellington's second application to the Solicitor General for Here 24/7 & IMPACT funding. Council requests that GPS provide a copy of the written submission to City staff when it has been finalized so that staff may provide a letter of support on behalf of Council.

This recommendation is based on the following key findings:

• Challenges were noted in the crisis response system, including inconsistent response times for the IMPACT program and Here 24/7.

#### Health Services Recommendation 4: Council requests that the Wellington Guelph Drug Strategy continue to address known substance use service barriers including, but not limited to, funding, access and waitlists, to improve substance use services available to vulnerable populations within Guelph.

This recommendation is based on the following key findings:

- The most vulnerable in our community experience barriers in accessing substance use services.
- There is a lack of discharge planning for hospital/rehabilitation programs to communitybased substance use services and supports. System navigation has been identified as a gap and is essential to support movement through the system.

The findings and recommendations from this review and gap analysis will support City Council in the development of their multi-year budget and may also support the City with advocacy on issues related to homelessness, substance use and mental health.

Collective Results acknowledges that many organizations and collaborative planning tables in the community have, and continue to, lead great work in the areas of housing services, mental health services and substance use services for people experiencing homelessness. This report is not intended to override those efforts, but rather to complement the work that is already underway. The project limitations and project scope sections of this report clearly identify what this report includes and excludes – all readers are encouraged to review those details carefully. Finally, it is important to acknowledge that while the recommendations contained within this report may provide initial steps to move items forward in the community, there will be an ongoing need to collect information and consult with the community, including People with Lived Experiences (PWLE) and community partners, as plans and solutions are developed and implemented.

## **Project Background**

Urgent issues related to homelessness, mental health and substance use are increasingly being brought to the attention of the City of Guelph (the City)<sup>1</sup> (See <u>Appendix A - Local Data Scan</u>). The City has received and anticipates that it will continue to receive requests to fund housing services, mental health services and substance use services for people experiencing homelessness. The City is seeking a framework that will provide clarity on system roles and responsibilities to support an intentional and coordinated approach to planning, as opposed to a fragmented and reactionary approach to these complex issues. The City recognizes that these service areas are not normally within the City's scope as the County of Wellington (the County) is the Consolidated Municipal Services Manager (CMSM) for housing, while mental health and substance use services are the responsibility of health sector organizations. However, in order to move forward as a community, a shared understanding of what is essential, including roles and responsibilities is necessary to address the increasing complexity of these issues and to serve the most vulnerable residents in the community. The findings and recommendations from this review and gap analysis will support City Council in the development of their multi-year budget and may also support the City with advocacy on issues related to homelessness, substance use and mental health.

## **Project Overview**

## **Purpose**

The purpose of this project was to provide the City of Guelph with an assessment and gap review related to:



Housing services for adults 18 years old+ experiencing homelessness in Guelph

Mental health services for adults 18 years old+ in Guelph

Substance use services for adults 18 years old+ in Guelph

This project was approached with two focused streams of data collection and analysis: local community consultations and a multi-level governmental system-wide scan.

Following completion of data collection and analysis, it emerged that the most significant gaps in the community are the areas where housing services, mental health services and substance use services intersect. Given this, the scope narrowed in the consolidation of findings and the development of recommendations to focus on housing services, mental health services and substance use services for adults experiencing homelessness in Guelph.

See Appendix B for key definitions for this project.

## **Objectives and Research Questions**

#### **Guelph Community Consultations**

The objectives and research questions that guided the community consultation process are listed in Table 1.

Table 1. Guelph Community Consultations Objectives and Research Questions	5
	-

Objective	Research Question
A. To complete a current state analysis of local services, including how they are funded, related to housing for people experiencing homelessness, substance use and mental health within Guelph.	A1) What organizations have a mandate/strategic priorities/requirements to offer local services?
	A2) What services exist in Guelph?
	A3) Who provides these services and how are they funded?
	A4) What are the community assets in Guelph that positively impact the planning, delivery and funding of services?
	A5) What are the community barriers in Guelph that negatively impact the planning, delivery and funding of services?
B. To gather and understand the perspectives of people with living/lived experience (PWLE) of substance use, homelessness and/or mental health.	B1) What are PWLE seeing and/or experiencing about the local substance use, homelessness and mental health situation in Guelph?
	B2) What services are being accessed?
	B3) What needs are being met/unmet?
	B4) What services are missing?
C. To identify service duplications, overlaps, gaps and connections for	C1) What service duplications exist?

Objective	Research Question	
services related to housing for people experiencing homelessness, substance use and mental health within Guelph.		
	C2) What service overlaps exist?	
	C3) What service gaps exist?	
	C4) What service connections exist?	
D. To develop recommendations for Council's consideration to address system duplications, gaps and overlaps as part of a future state.	D1) What are the possible solutions to the identified system duplications, overlaps and gaps?	
E. To assess the current state and desired future state for community partner collaboration in the planning, delivery and funding of services related to housing for those experiencing homelessness, substance use and mental health within Guelph.	E1) What is the current state and desired future state for community partner collaboration in the planning, delivery and funding of services?	
	E2) What are community partner roles and responsibilities for current and anticipated future services?	

### System-Wide Scan

The objectives and research questions that guided the system-wide scan are listed in Table 2.

Objective	Research Question
F. To complete an online environmental scan to understand services and funding at the federal, provincial, and municipal level	<u>Municipal:</u> F1) What services are offered in other comparable municipalities?

Objective	Research Question	
(similar size and demographic profile to Guelph and Wellington) related to housing services for people experiencing homelessness, substance use services and mental health services for adults.		
	F2) Who provides these services and how are they funded?	
	F3) What do we know about the effectiveness and/or impact of these services?	
	F4) What are the CMSM (Consolidated Municipal Service Manager) structures and responsibilities in comparable municipalities?	
	<u>Provincial/Federal:</u> F5) What services does the Ontario provincial government fund?	
	F6) What services does the Federal government fund?	
G. To gather key informant perspectives on current and emerging federal, provincial, and municipal level (similar size, demographic profile and municipal structure to Guelph) funding related housing services for people experiencing homelessness, substance use services and mental health services for adults.	G1) What are the current and emerging funding opportunities at the federal, provincial and municipal levels?	
	G2) Where are there funding gaps?	
H: To gather key informant perspectives on emerging/innovative federal,	C1) Are there any emerging/innovative services related to housing for people experiencing homelessness, mental health and/or substance use at the federal, provincial and municipal levels?	

Objective	Research Question
provincial, and municipal level services.	
	C2) How are these emerging/innovative services funded?
	C3) What do we know about the effectiveness and/or impact of these services?

## Approach

#### **Guelph Community Consultations**

The purpose of the comprehensive community consultations process was to determine the local current state of services and funding, to identify gaps and areas of opportunity. Five methods were included in the process.

#### **Inventory of Local Services**

This secure, online inventory was emailed to a leadership contact(s) at each agency. The online inventory collected the following information:

- agency mandate
- inventory of housing services, mental health services and substance use services for adults 18+ in Guelph
- funding details including funder(s), funding type and funding amount

#### **Community Partner Survey**

The voluntary, online survey targeted a variety of perspectives from those who worked in different roles (e.g., frontline staff, leadership, etc.) in Guelph-based agencies that:

- provide housing services for those experiencing homelessness, mental health and/or substance use services for those who are adults
- provide services focused on, but not limited to, primary care, sexual health, food insecurity and community safety
- focus on advocacy

#### **Community Partner Key Informant Interviews**

Following an iterative process, these interviews further explored and expanded on findings from the inventory of local services and the community partner survey.

#### Peer-led people with lived/living experience (PWLE) interviews

PWLE were recruited and interviewed at three key community locations by peer interviewers to provide valuable insight on the local situation, services accessed, met or unmet needs, missing services and potential solutions. Participants had to:

- be 18 years of age or older
- reside in Guelph
- have personal experience with homelessness, mental health and/or substance use at some point in their lives

#### **Data Validation Meetings**

After the data from the four methods above (plus the system-wide scan below) were consolidated and summarized, three data validation meetings were held to check the accuracy of the data and answer any questions. Each meeting occurred with one key expert in each service area in Guelph.

Data collection details and the uptake for each of these methods are included in Figure 1. Please see the limitations to this process detailed in the <u>Project Limitations</u> section.



Figure 1. Process and uptake for Guelph Communication Consultations

#### System-Wide Scan

The purpose of the system-wide scan was to determine services and funding at the federal, provincial and municipal-levels (in similar-sized communities), and to identify innovative/emerging best practices and funding opportunities. This process was iterative, with two methods in the process.

#### **Environmental Scan**

A grey literature search was conducted online given that this is a key place for organizations, such as governments and non-for-profit organizations, to share information about services and funding for public transparency. A search strategy was developed and implemented based on methods outlined in a peer-reviewed article<sup>2</sup>, focusing on custom Google search engines and targeted websites. Furthermore, promising insights from the key informant interviews guided additional searches as part of the environmental scan.

#### **Key Informant Interviews**

The key informant interviews explored and expanded on the findings of the environmental scan and the community consultations by providing:

- clarity on service and funding initiatives or opportunities where details are not publicly available.
- details on emerging or innovative practices and funding opportunities

The interviews targeted leaders and decision-makers at the federal, provincial and municipallevels of government with a focus on sectors that address housing services for people experiencing homelessness, mental health and/or substance use services.

Data collection details and the uptake for each of these methods are included in Figure 2. Please see the limitations to this process detailed in the <u>Project Limitations</u> section.



#### Figure 2. Process and uptake for the System Wide Scan

## **Project Scope**

Table 3 details the parameters around the scope of this project.

#### Table 3. Project Scope

In Scope	Out of Scope
<ul> <li>An analysis of the current state, gaps and recommendations specific to issues of homelessness, substance use and mental health in Guelph.</li> <li>Recommendations for consideration by City Council that consider a system- wide approach to these issues. System-wide considerations include multi-governmental responsibility (e.g., Federal, Provincial, local City and County), cross-jurisdiction funding (both discretionary and non- discretionary), and multi-agency responsibility for service delivery (including not-for-profit and community organizations).</li> <li>Specific program/service recommendations for consideration only included for those the City funds.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Assessment of the effectiveness of the service providers within Guelph.</li> <li>Revisiting the legally binding relationship between the City and the County.</li> <li>Interventions focused on the prevention of substance use, mental health and homelessness.</li> <li>The right side of the housing continuum<sup>3</sup>, including affordable housing.</li> <li>Interventions focused solely on youth under the age of 18.</li> </ul>

## **Project Limitations**

Although the process for this study was comprehensive, there are limitations noted.

- The scope of this project on direct services in the areas of housing, substance use and mental health services for people experiencing homelessness, excludes upstream interventions that aim to prevent these issues. Prevention is an important part of the continuum that must be considered when planning a systems level response to these complex issues even though it is out of scope for this project.
- 2. This project represents **a point in time assessment** of housing, substance use and mental health services **as of June 2023**. Funding, services, and information regarding best practices in these areas are continuously evolving and it is important to stay current on those changes as recommendations are planned and implemented
- 3. Given the high-profile nature of this project, **there was not an opportunity to complete a comprehensive data validation process** with community partners and PWLE. Instead, a focused validation process with three identified community leaders with content area expertise was undertaken. This approach may have limited the ability to identify connections across data collection methods.
- 4. The inventory of services is limited to those organizations that participated in this data collection method. Service and funding details should be interpreted with caution as these details were not provided by all organizations that provide direct services in the areas of housing, mental health and substance use services for people experiencing homelessness.
- 5. All survey and interview data are based on subjective experiences and perceptions. Although this is not necessarily a limitation, it is important to note that these findings are not based on objective data.
- 6. PWLE interviews were held in key downtown service locations to ensure uptake, potentially omitting perspectives of those who do not frequent the downtown area of Guelph. Additionally, PWLE interviewees volunteered to participate, which is indicative of some level of self selection biases.
- 7. The system wide scan was intentionally limited to only include other municipalities in Ontario to ensure a similar funding environment to the City of Guelph and to exclude any academic scholars as key informants. As a result, the findings are limited to **identifying innovative practices in Ontario**.



# Housing Services for People Experiencing Homelessness Findings



## **Guelph Community Consultations Findings**

## **Key Definitions**

The following definitions of the housing continuum were used to guide the data collection and analysis of the community consultations findings in the area of housing services for people experiencing homelessness.

**Emergency Shelter:** Facilities that provide temporary, short-term accommodation for people experiencing homelessness or those in crisis. Basic supports, like meals and hygiene supplies are offered.

**Transitional Housing:** Provides time-limited access to housing and promotes housing stability. This housing is an intermediate step between emergency crisis shelter and permanent housing.

**Supportive Housing:** Provides long-term housing for people experiencing homelessness that is combined with cross-sectoral supports like medical, substance use and mental health supports. It combines independent housing options with common spaces while also providing access to individualized, flexible and voluntary supports. Supports are typically provided by on-site staff and can be accessed 24 hours per day, 7 days a week. Supportive housing is recognized to be superior to the shelter system because it provides people supports to enable them to move forward towards stable housing.

**Rent-Geared-to-Income:** Rent-geared-to-income is often referred to as Social Housing and as the name suggests, the rent is determined by income. These subsidized rents are generally about 30 percent of gross monthly household income. The County of Wellington manages these subsidies through federal, provincial and municipal funding.

### **Inventory of Services**

#### Mandates

Out of the 17 organizations that completed the inventory of services, nine organizations indicated that they have a mandate and/or strategic priorities to provide housing services for people experiencing homelessness. There are two additional organizations that provide housing services for people experiencing homelessness without an organizational mandate and/or strategic priorities to provide these services. Three of the health-based organizations that provide housing services for people experiencing homelessness indicated that housing services represent a small component of their overall services, while the remaining organizations indicated that housing services represent a primary focus for their organization.



#### **Funding Summary**

The inventory of services is limited to those organizations that participated in this data collection method. Service and funding details should be interpreted with caution as these details were not provided by all organizations in Guelph that provide direct services in the areas of housing services for people experiencing homelessness. There are some services where service areas of focus overlap (e.g., a service focused on housing, substance use and mental health). In these instances, Collective Results reports on funding details in the primary service area of focus to avoid duplicating funding details across services.

Based on the organizations that completed the inventory of services, just over 42 million dollars of funding is directed to the left side of the housing continuum in Guelph. The majority of these funds, 76%, are focused on Rent Geared to Income (RG; includes rent subsidies and social housing), while the remaining 24% of these funds (10 million dollars) is dedicated to emergency shelters, transitional housing and supportive housing. The funding summary presented in Table 4 summarizes operational dollars for housing on the left side of the continuum with the exception of the RGI section that includes both operational and capital expenditures.

Housing Type	Base Funding	One-Time Funding	Other Funding Not Specified
Emergency Shelters	\$4,593,064.00	\$2,133,922.00	\$0
Transitional Housing	\$1,695,744.00	\$0	\$0
Supportive Housing	\$1,513,314.00	\$0	\$210,000.00
Rent Geared to Income (RGI) (Social Housing)	\$31,565,900.00**	\$0	\$886,000.00

Table 4. Summary of funding for housing services on the left side of the housing continuum in Guelph\*

\*As reported by the 17 organizations that completed the Inventory of Services

\*\*Includes operational and capital expenditures



#### **Emergency Shelter Services**

The County as the CMSM for social services administers emergency shelter services on behalf of the City and the County. As the CMSM, the County receives funding from the Federal Government and the Provincial Government, along with municipal contributions from the County and the City, to fund emergency shelter services in Guelph. In total, there are 14 emergency shelter beds for youth (aged 16-25), 63 emergency shelter beds for adults and motel overflow emergency shelter beds. There are also supports within the emergency shelters that include: diversion and rapid rehousing, housing stability, health and social supports [funded by Canadian Mental Health Association (CMHA) Waterloo Wellington] and housing focused street outreach (Figure 3).



#### Figure 3. Emergency shelter services administered by the County of Wellington as the CMSM

1. See Funding details in Mental Health Section

There are also two emergency shelter services in Guelph that are not administered by the CMSM. This includes a 28-bed emergency shelter provided by Guelph Wellington Women in Crisis for women and children experiencing domestic violence, sexual violence and human trafficking. This service is funded by the Ministry of Children, Community and Social Services (MCCSS). The City and the County are also providing one-time-funding in 2023 to support a daytime shelter at Royal City Mission (6 days/week, 12 hours/day; Figure 4)







#### **Transitional Housing Services**

The County as the CMSM for social services administers transitional housing services on behalf of the City and the County. As the CMSM, the County receives funding from the Federal Government and the Provincial Government, along with municipal contributions from the County and the City, to fund transitional housing services in Guelph. In total, there are 24 transitional beds for pregnant and parenting women and eight transitional beds for youth (aged 16-25). There is also a proposed new transitional housing at 65 Delhi that would include 28 beds (Figure 5).



#### Figure 5. Transitional housing services administered by the County of Wellington as the CMSM

1. Funding details not provided

There are also two transitional housing services in Guelph that are not administered by the CMSM. This includes transitional housing and support provided by Guelph Wellington Women in Crisis that is funded by the Ministry of Children Community and Social Services (MCCSS). Stonehenge Therapeutic Community provides supportive addiction and mental health housing (transitional) funded by Ontario Health West and CMHA Waterloo Wellington. Stonehenge Therapeutic Community for a new program called "Safe Beds" that provides people experiencing a mental health and/or substance use crisis with short stay community residential crisis services (Figure 6)



Figure 6. **Other transitional housing services** in Guelph not administered by the County of Wellington as the CMSM





#### **Supportive Housing Services**

The County as the CMSM for social services administers supportive housing services on behalf of the City and the County. As the CMSM, the County receives funding from the Federal Government and the Provincial Government, along with municipal contributions from the County and the City, to fund supportive housing services in Guelph. In total, there are 78 units for supportive addiction and mental health housing, eight supportive housing beds for youth (aged 16-25) and community based supportive housing, including two group homes and scattered units (number of units not specified). Grace Gardens currently has approximately 20 beds at the Holiday Inn that will eventually transition to 32 permanent supportive housing beds at 721 Woolwich. Supportive Housing is also provided through the Community Based Supportive Housing Program and the Community Agency Delivery Program (number of beds/units not specified). The supports provided within supportive housing services are funded through the Ministry of Health, Ontario Health West and Family and Children's Services (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Supportive housing services administered by the County of Wellington as the CMSM

1. Funding details not provided

CMHA Waterloo Wellington provides mental health supportive housing (one house with two units) that is not administered by the County as the CMSM and funded by the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. There are also 32 new permanent supportive housing units at 10 Shelldale that are under construction and proposed to be available starting in fall 2023. Operational dollars have not been confirmed for this building (Figure 8).

# Figure 8. **Other supportive housing services** in Guelph not administered by the County of Wellington as the CMSM





#### **RGI Services**

The County of Wellington as the CMSM for social services administers RGI services (includes rent subsidies and social housing) on behalf of the City and the County. As the CMSM, the County receives funding from the Federal Government, the Provincial Government along with municipal contributions from the County and the City to fund RGI services in Guelph. In total, these services include 1121 RGI units and 305 low market rent units provided by housing providers, 1089 County Owned RGI units along with several different rent subsidy and support programs (Figure 9).



#### Figure 9. RGI services administered by the County of Wellington as the CMSM

## **Current State from the Perspective of PWLE**

#### **Current experiences**

When asked about the current realities of those experiencing homelessness in Guelph, PWLE interviewees highlighted a vast increase in people experiencing homelessness locally. Specific

elements of this increase noted were the concentration in the downtown area, impacts of the pandemic and the increased cost of living in the City. With increases in people experiencing homelessness, interviewees also noted challenges to access washrooms, showers and lockers to keep belongings safe, in addition to the societal stigma received by people experiencing homelessness.

"From what I've seen, I don't see too much help out there. I see a lot of people on the streets here and it's bad." PWLE Interview Participant "I can work with these workers to help find a place but what's the point, I can't afford it. Until they make housing affordable for people, it's just going to get worse." PWLE Interview Participant Interviewees also noted housing specific service challenges. Most of those interviewed discussed the long waitlists for housing supports via the County. As of Quarter Four in 2022<sup>4</sup>; the County of Wellington's Centralized Waitlist had 3,377 active applications. Housing subsidies offered by the County were deemed inadequate by many interviewees based on the current and rising market prices. Additionally, current limits on affordable housing throughout the City were thought by some interviewees to be related

to post-secondary students occupying a significant number of affordable housing options.

#### **Need Met**

PWLE interviewees stated that their needs for food and meals are being met.

"Hard to go hungry in Guelph, there are lots of little places to go for meals" PWLE Interview Participant

#### **Needs Unmet**

PWLE interviewees felt there was limited access to emergency shelter services with only one adult focused shelter located in the City. In fact, all

"I'm on disability, I wouldn't have enough to pay rent and pay to eat with the cost of living these days. Everything is doubling in cost, but our cheques aren't going up at all." PWLE Interview Participant emergency shelter located in the City. In fact, all emergency shelter services offered in the County are in Guelph. Interviewees also noted limited availability and affordability of housing, with long waitlists for supportive housing. A barrier was also noted about being in the Ontario Disability Program (ODSP) or the Ontario Works Program (OW) and the ability to access affording housing. Some interviewees also reported a significant supplydemand issue with support workers.

### Assets

#### From the perspective of community partners

The top community assets that positively impact the planning, delivery and funding of services for people experiencing homelessness in Guelph indicated by community partner survey participants were an understanding of the community need for housing services for people experiencing homelessness (55%); community connections and relationships (48%); collaborative community planning and actions (36%); and local commitment to provide evidence based housing services for people experiencing homelessness (36%; Figure 10).





# Figure 10. Understanding of community need, community connections, collaborative planning and actions, and the local commitment to provide evidence-based services were the most identified assets

n=33



Community partner survey and interview participants highlighted that collaborative community planning and actions are important to local agencies. Participants also felt local agencies understand the need for housing services, as exhibited by the use of evidence to support planning and linking assessments to broader system data (e.g., By-Name List). This is bolstered by a perceived local commitment by agencies to provide evidence-based services and end homelessness locally.

### **Barriers**

#### From the perspective of community partners

The top three community barriers that negatively impact the planning, delivery and funding of services for people experiencing homelessness in Guelph indicated by community partner survey participants were the lack of funding and resources (53%); lack of discharge planning and coordinated care for individuals who experience homelessness or precarious housing (also includes from incarceration, etc.; 47%); and stigma and discrimination of people experiencing homelessness in the community (44%; Figure 11).



# Figure 11. Lack of funding and resources, lack of discharge planning and coordinated care, and stigma and discrimination were the most identified barriers n=34



"In a lot of cases, people are discharged...they're put in a taxi and just sent right to the shelter. We have had people, that were in hospitals because they had like a major amputation, and they get discharged straight to shelter. Or people in the justice system they've been in for years and they just get driven right to right to the shelter. There's no planning beforehand."

**Community Partner Interview Participant** 

Community partner survey and interview participants expanded on these findings by highlighting an overall lack of collaborative systems level approach, clarity and accountability. This finding was further supported by participants reporting lack of clarity regarding the County and the City's distinct roles in the housing continuum and an ineffective governance structure. A lack of wraparound services was also mentioned, highlighting the lack of collaboration

across services that would bolster a collaborative systems level approach (e.g., health, mental health, substance use, culturally supportive services). In terms of lack of funding and resources, participants stated that funds are not often provided beyond the building costs. This translates to a lack of staff to provide the outreach and wraparound services needed. Staff retention was also noted as a barrier.

"You have to match those health supports with the housing supports to be successful... we've seen people get housed that are really unwell and they just end up homeless again...the path isn't ever just about housing." Community Partner Interview Participant

"Who is responsible? The

funders? The City? The

County? Unclear."

Community Partner

Interview Participant



The stigma people who are experiencing homelessness are subjected to highlights the lack of value some members of the community have for those struggling. Some partners mentioned a number of not in my backyard (NIMBY) conversations that have helped.

A lack of preventative planning and housing affordability was also noted by participants, emphasizing the limited efforts to help reduce the chronic inflow of homelessness. Locally, the Diversion & Rapid Rehousing Program has been effective in preventing people from entering the emergency shelter system. A community partner mentioned the program had 270 and 235 diversions in 2021 and 2022, respectively.

Lastly, a specific service barrier that was highlighted was only one emergency shelter service provider for adults in the City.

## **Overlaps and Duplications**

#### From the perspective of community partners

There were limited duplications and/or overlaps for housing services for people experiencing homelessness in Guelph identified by community partner participants. It was noted that some duplication would be helpful (e.g., more than one emergency shelter for adults).

### Gaps

#### From the perspective of PWLE

"There should be more places for people who are homelessness to go. On the weekend, we just stand around downtown looking for places to go." PWLE Interview Participant PWLE interviewees discussed gaps related to the lack of low-barrier places for adults experiencing homelessness to access during the day with laundry and washroom facilities, recreation activities and outreach worker connections. Locally, a youth-focused wellness model exists called the Grove<sup>5</sup>. This is a barrier-free space for youth to access during the day with recreation and life skill workshop options, basic needs and a one-stop shop for accessing a wide range of health, education and social services. Within this model, youth have access to

a clinical team on site with no wait list. The Grove has approximately 150 youth access the site per day.

Interviewees also talked about the lack of supportive or affordable housing in Guelph. Some mentioned being offered housing in small rural towns outside of Guelph as part of the County housing program (e.g., Fergus, Arthur, Harriston, Drayton), which is not ideal given the services they access are in the City.



#### From the perspective of community partners

As shown in Figure 12, the most frequent service gaps within housing services for people experiencing homelessness identified by community partner survey participants were social or subsidized housing (62%); transitional or supportive housing (60%); and emergency shelters (40%).

# Figure 12. Social or subsidized housing, transitional or supportive housing and emergency shelters were the most identified service gaps n=47



Community partner survey and interview participants expanded on gaps related to social or subsidized housing stating there are limited subsidies and houses to access, with a long wait list. Some participants also mentioned the Holiday Inn closing was a concern, although it was indicated there is a plan to transfer those residents to permanent supporting housing. Interview participants also acknowledged concerns about the availability of low-end market rent buildings in or near the downtown (e.g., 90 Carden) that provide informal temporary housing for people experiencing homelessness.

With regards to supportive housing, there was a significant gap noted in wraparound services and supports (e.g., health, mental health, substance use services, etc.). Participants stated that standards and a collaborative approach were needed between health and housing to improve service. This also includes a gap in discharge planning (e.g., hospitalization, rehabilitation, incarceration, etc.). The low housing stock and housing market issues were discussed as the reason for gaps in supportive (and affordable) housing opportunities.

Participants noted that there are not enough emergency shelters, leading to not much of a crisis response. A limitation noted by a community partner was the lack of space for local shelters given that most hotel spaces being used as shelters, or that could be used as shelters, are being purchased for student housing.



"It is almost as if you get wrap- around support and housing in youth services, but then this makes you ineligible when you turn 25 and need ongoing wrap-around care. This is not being addressed in any way in our community."

**Community Partner Interview Participant** 

Other service gaps identified by participants were housing that meets individual needs (i.e., gender-focused shelters, access to cultural care within the housing system, housing for acute and complex individuals, support for people 25 years or older transitioning out of the youth category); and the fact that there is only one housing service provider for adults in Guelph.

"It's hard to get a job, when you don't know where you are going to be sleeping, how you are going to be sleeping, if you are going to showered, if you are going to have a lunch." PWLE Interview Participant "There are no crisis respite services in the community which once provided a safe haven for those who were experiencing mental health/addiction crises with specialized support. There are not enough support/services for those who are being housed in the County that may need more complex mental health/addiction services, ending up that people who need FACT level support cannot go to a County unit." Community Partner Interview Participant

## **Solutions**

#### Solutions suggested by PWLE

Solutions focused on by PWLE interviewees related to more capacity in the emergency shelter system (e.g., more beds) and more affordable housing options in Guelph. Many interviewees emphasized the key to supporting people's well-being is having a "stable place to live."

#### Solutions suggested by community partners

The most frequent community action to improve housing services to support people experiencing homelessness suggested by community partner survey participants were more rent/housing subsidies; a plan for more housing across the entire continuum; and collaboration among housing services and health services.

"Housing is an issue for homelessness. So need more transitional and permanent supportive housing" Community Partner Interview Participant With regards to more housing options across the continuum, participants indicated involving PWLE in decision making would be beneficial. Increased funding was suggested to not only grow housing options across the continuum, but also to have City staff dedicated to affordable housing options and increase operational funds for the buildings



(e.g., permanent supportive housing). A recurring theme was the importance of focusing on permanent supportive housing. It was noted that shelters are more expensive, and it is not the end goal for people at risk of or those currently experiencing homelessness. This emphasizes the importance of new affordable housing stock and rent supplements.

Collaboration among housing and health services focused on leveraging key community partners (e.g., CMHA Waterloo Wellington, Stonehenge) to adequately provide wraparound services (e.g., health, mental health, substance use services). Additionally, the need for engagement from, and collaboration between, the Ministry of Health and the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing was discussed.

### **Partner Collaboration**

#### From the perspective of community partners

As depicted in Figure 13, community partner survey participants indicated that community partner collaboration in the planning, delivery and funding of housing services for people experiencing homelessness is currently viewed as mainly cooperation (26%), networking (22%) and coordination (22%), with the majority of participants indicating a desired future state of collaboration (64%).

Figure 13. Most respondents indicated that while collaboration is not the **current state** of community partnerships related to substance use, the ideal **future state** would be collaboration n=50



Definitions:

Networking: Partners share information and talk with one another for their mutual benefit. Loosely defined roles and minimal decision-making. Cooperation: Partners support one another's services but have no formal agreement in place. Somewhat defined roles and limited decision-making.

Coordination: Partners are engaged in mutual projects and initiatives, modifying their own activities to benefit the whole. Defined roles, shared decision making around joint work and sharing some resources.

Collaboration: A formal agreement in place and partners working together to achieve a shared vision. Formalized roles, equally shared ideas and decision making, trust and pooled resources.


When reflecting on the current state, community partner survey and interview participants indicated barriers to collaboration, such as different agency mandates and limited capacity and funding to collaborate. For example, a local Risk by Design table exists to review crisis cases and create a joint plan to quickly support and stabilize the individual. Challenges were identified with acquiring health supports to create an appropriate plan for these individuals. A theme that emerged during the community partner consultations was that Homewood often will not take complex cases, which pushes people into the shelter system.

Participants also discussed the most important community action that should be taken to move towards a future state of collaboration. Suggestions focused on a systems level approach to collaboration and client-centred service delivery, including shared goals/visions supported by memorandums of understanding and/or formal agreements; dedicated resources for collaboration, such as one external body or level of government to provide oversight with a dedicated role; health and housing services working to provide accessible wraparound services;

"In my mind, the vision is that we have one strategic plan for housing and health... that we've all signed on to it and that the plan is a joint plan held between the City and the County."

Community Partner Interview Participant

and the CMSM to advocate for more housing options and benefits for people who are homeless or at risk of being homeless. An emphasis was also placed on a significant need for change management support to move forward collaboratively, considering the current governance model is not built for systems level collaboration.

## **System-Wide Scan Findings**

## **Overview**

The most common housing services identified in the online search were emergency shelters, with 34 unique services offered at the municipal level. A common resource associated with the shelters included drop-in day services to provide other basic needs for people experiencing homelessness. Key informants emphasized the critical role that outreach workers play in the shelter system, as well as within encampments, to connect people to

"Drop-in day services are important, such as access to food, housing staff and information services to provide housing-based supports, completing forms to apply for housing, etc." Key Informant Interview Participant

emergency shelters. The relationships established between outreach workers and people experiencing homelessness are critical for linking people to community resources and supports.



Transitional and supportive housing were also prevalent in the environmental scan search for housing, with 18 unique services emerging. Supportive housing also emerged from the substance use search, speaking to the importance of this service at addressing the intersections

"Many people could benefit from wraparound services that address mental health and substance use needs."

Key Informant Interview Participant

of homelessness and health services. Establishing a coordinated access or entry point into the system was a common priority and approach for municipalities. Furthermore, using a coordinated approach to housing people who are experiencing homelessness, who are also in need of mental health and/or substance use services was noted. Specifically, there was an emphasis on wraparound services integrated within a supportive housing framework. Key informants also shared that these supportive services help to divert people from the shelter system.

A common challenge that was experienced across municipalities was funding the services that are offered through supportive housing. The funding models for these services are complex, as municipalities have a mandate to deliver the housing component of this service delivery model, and receive funding from the Province for the housing services; however, there is currently no identified stream of funding for the supportive services. As a result, municipalities must rely on partnerships, in-kind resources and services (e.g., practitioners), and end-of-year funding.

"[The] system is currently not set-up to fund holistic support. It's either health or housing funding, not integrated, coordinated care...Health is moving into a place where there is an acknowledgement that we can't fund in siloes, and integrated funding envelopes that take care of the person...fragmented funding leads to fragmented services." Key Informant Interview Participant

## **Emerging or Best Practices**

## Human rights-based approach to housing

In June 2021, the National Housing Strategy (NHS) Act (Bill C-97) and the right to housing was passed in the Senate and received Royal Assent. This meant that there is a legislated right to housing in Canada, which brings Canada in line with International law and human rights from the United Nations, with critical accountability mechanisms in place. The NHS Act "commits the government to the progressive realization of the right to housing through a rights-based housing strategy and ensures meaningful participation of rights-holders in identifying systemic issues and appropriate remedies"<sup>6</sup>. This was achieved as a result of decades of advocacy and



court challenges fought by individuals, human rights lawyers, academics, and organizations across the Country.

This approach includes the principles of non-discrimination, inclusion, participation and accountability. "The legislation will ensure that the housing strategy is responsive to both the immediate needs of those who are homeless and to the structural causes of homelessness and inadequate housing as well as to emerging issues and challenges moving forward"<sup>6</sup>. Given that is entrenched in legislation, a rights-based approach to housing comes with important government programs, policy and budgetary decisions.

There are important strengths of this approach that warrants adoption at a municipal level. Unlike the reactionary approach that many municipalities in Ontario are taking by declaring a state of emergency on homelessness, a rights-based approach to housing, legislatively requires the Federal Government to respond. The NHS Act "provides an important parallel means to claim the right to housing, to hold governments accountable to their obligations under international human rights law, and to address systemic issues that courts in Canada have failed to address"<sup>6</sup>. Furthermore, this approach can support intergovernmental collaboration to address homelessness, which has been identified as a key gap from the environmental scan and the local community consultations.

Given that the NHS Act is fairly young, there is a need to build the knowledge base at all levels of government regarding a rights-based approach and fully examine the role of municipalities in this approach. There are supportive resources and agencies to increase this capacity at a municipal level. Specifically, The Shift and The Canadian Centre for Housing Rights have a mandate to support municipalities in taking a rights-based approach to housing. The Shift "aims to support cities in navigating human rights-based housing policy and strategies. It will provide them with the knowledge and tools to apply a human rights-based lens to their own housing strategies"<sup>7</sup>. The Shift does this by equipping municipal governments with adequate knowledge and supportive tools and providing best practices to guide the implementation in collaboration with municipal and grassroots organizations.

The City of Toronto and City of Kitchener appear to be early adopters of this approach in Ontario, as they are currently partnered with The Shift on municipal pilot projects for a human rights-based approach to housing. The City of Kitchener<sup>8</sup> is particularly relevant to the City of Guelph as the Region of Waterloo serves as the Consolidated Municipal Service Manager for housing services, just as the County of Wellington does for the City of Guelph.

For municipalities who are not the CMSM for housing, or the identified community entity for Federal Reaching Home funds, like the City, they are limited in their ability to implement concrete change or investment in housing at a community-level. Adopting a human rightsbased approach provides an important mechanism for these municipalities to increase accountability, advocacy, and provide concrete pathways for their residents whose rights are not being realized. Now that the right to housing is nationally legislated, it provides an opportunity for the municipal governments to learn more about the human rights-based



approach to housing. These municipalities can also place pressure on their CMSM to also take a human rights-based approach to housing program development, delivery and funding allocation.

## **Housing First**

Implementing a Housing First approach was regularly mentioned in the environmental scan and key informant interviews. 'Housing First' is a rights-based and recovery-oriented approach to ending homelessness that centers on quickly moving people experiencing homelessness into independent and permanent housing, and then providing additional support and services as needed<sup>9</sup>. Housing First is predicated on the understanding that housing is a precondition for recovery. Individuals do not need to agree to accessing supportive services (or meet any other readiness requirements) in order to access permanent housing. Housing first is an evidence-based approach, with a Performance Management framework and guidelines established for community entities.

There are five core principles of a housing first approach<sup>9</sup>:

- 1. There are no readiness requirements for permanent housing and participation is voluntary;
- Consumer choice and self-determination means that individuals have some choice (within local context), regarding the type of housing and location, and the services they access;
- 3. Individualized and client-driven supports and treatment services that are culturallyappropriate and portable;
- 4. Recovery orientation that focuses on harm reduction for individuals using substances, individual well-being, and supports that "empower individuals to nurture and maintain social, recreational, educational, occupational and vocational activities"
- 5. Social and community integration means that individuals can access housing models that do not further contribute to stigma and/or isolation. Services that support this include, scattered site approaches to housing, vocational, employment and recreational opportunities to nurture social and cultural engagement.

Furthermore, Housing First is a philosophy and systems approach that can be implemented as a program service delivered by an agency, using team-based interventions, such as Assertive Community Treatment Teams (ACTT). In Guelph, ACTT is provided by Homewood. Given that this approach relies on supportive housing services, this approach faces the same funding challenge as previously discussed. Supportive housing services require a partnership approach to deliver and fund.

The Federal Reaching Home funding<sup>10</sup> previously required community entities to plan and allocate those funds using a Housing First Approach. While this is no longer a requirement from the Federal government in an attempt to provide increased local flexibility, a Housing First approach is still strongly encouraged. Establishing a Community Advisory Board (CAB) is another requirement and accountability mechanism to provide oversight to the planning and



allocation of these Federal Funds, which exists in the County. It is unclear the extent to which municipalities are adhering to the program fidelity of housing-first, as communities are left to self-assess. This also hinders the ability to demonstrate the ongoing impact of this approach at the municipal level.

## **Community Homes for Opportunity (CHO)**

Community Homes for Opportunity (CHO) emerged in four communities in the environmental scan for housing, as well as the substance use search. According to the Canadian Mental Health Association (Simcoe County Branch)<sup>11</sup>, the CHO program provides supportive, affordable housing to those who are living with a serious mental illness, which also affects their day-to-day living. This program is designed for those who are 16 years of age and older. The model offers congregate residential living settings, with support provided. In other communities this program is offered through CMHA (Simcoe County and Durham), Addiction and Mental Health Services (KFLA), and Services and Housing in the Province (SHIP). While this is offered as a promising practice across several communities, the effectiveness of the program is not publicly reported.

## **Effectiveness Measures for Housing Initiatives**

A theme to emerge across the environmental scan was the lack of evidence regarding the effectiveness and/or impact of these services. The following summarizes the evaluation efforts that were identified, including the types of measures that were being examined by the type of program. "Key piece is data; it is really hard to measure this." Key Informant Interview Participant

For encampments, municipal law enforcement officers in Hamilton worked with encampment coordination teams and housing outreach staff to connect encampment residents with supports, such as emergency shelter<sup>12</sup>. For transitional and supportive housing in the District of Nipissing, measures that are tracked include number of hospital stays, emergency room visits, visits to community-based health providers, incarceration and police contact<sup>13</sup>. And lastly, for shelter services, Fred Victor in Toronto tracks the number of individuals who move on to improved living conditions after staying and receiving housing help in the shelters<sup>14</sup>.

Key informants echoed this gap and spoke to the challenges involved in measuring effectiveness. They identified the need to find Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) that demonstrate incremental improvements, as progress in this domain is slow. Many of the existing efforts do not focus on client outcomes to determine if individuals accessing services are any better off. This is an important gap that needs to be addressed moving forward. Identifying a common set of KPIs that speak to the progress and the outcomes of housing services will support evidence-informed planning and funding decisions moving forward.

One municipality indicated that their local public health unit, in collaboration with community partners, developed an assessment tool to assess harm reduction and overdose preparedness.



The assessment tool was developed to understand the shelter's preparedness to respond to overdoses and identify gaps and targeted supports and resources. This tool can be administered over time to monitor progress and improvement. This community is currently working to adapt this tool for supportive housing and other housing contexts. Public Health units in Ontario have a mandate detailed in the Ontario Public Health Standards to focus on health equity to support everyone in "...attaining their full health potential without disadvantage due to social position or other socially determined circumstances"<sup>15</sup>. In addition, Public Health units are required to conduct program planning, evaluation and evidence-informed decision making at the community level. This example emphasizes the important partnership opportunity between municipalities and Public Health units to work collaboratively to address and measure complex health issues and services.

"Do we tell the story of the person that was struggling? No, and yet we have so much to learn from that story."

Key Informant Interview Participant

One key informant emphasized the power of story-telling. Rather than labelling efforts or individuals as successes or failures, we need to listen to their story. Another key informant discussed how funders are focused on quantitative data because that's what funders want. The issue is that people aren't easily

counted in this service area. When we can share people's stories, we can create a more humancentered way of understanding what works and what is needed.

## **Funding Considerations**

## **Federal Reaching Home Funding**

The Federal Reaching Home Funding<sup>10</sup> as previously discussed in the context of Housing First, is an area where there are differing local approaches for the community entity that serves as the flow-through agency. One municipality that was interviewed arranged to have their local United Way (UW) as the flow through agency. This community also identified the importance of relationships for collaborative services planning and funding decisions. "You can have all the money in the world [to address these issues], but ego can always get in the way." Key Informant Interview Participant

They emphasized the need to prioritize relationship building and trust to support collaborative decision-making for funding allocation and ensuring those decisions align with the broader community approach, such as a rights-based or Housing First approach to housing.

## **Ontario Health Teams: System Optimization**

An important planning and coordination opportunity with Ontario Health Teams (OHT) emerged from the key informant interviews from both municipal and provincial key informants. Municipal partner key informants see partnership with OHTs as an opportunity to mobilize resources and work together in a different way, given previous approaches of working together



have not addressed the needs of the community. One example of this is the KW4 OHT, which has identified housing and homelessness as a strategic priority for community engagement, and

"Housing and health systems often find themselves in challenging positions, [therefore, they should] collaboratively identify solutions and partnership opportunities."

Key Informant Interview Participant

part of their health equity strategy<sup>16</sup>. This provides an important opportunity for housing services at the Region of Waterloo in addition to other municipal partners, including the City of Kitchener and the City of Waterloo, to collaboratively plan with their local OHTs to integrate housing with health programming, as well as other components of the system.

Systems planning with OHT's could address a wholecommunity approach to addressing the "supports" of supportive housing, which has been identified as a funding gap. Key informants noted there are important benefits with cross-sector partnership to address the complex needs of individuals in the community. This is a future opportunity of growth in the City of Guelph. Based on a review of the local Guelph Wellington OHT,

"The support part of the supportive housing. These are funded through the OH regional Services." Key Informant Interview Participant

there is no explicit mention of housing or homelessness priorities; however, a "Shared Understanding and Advancement of Health Equity" is a strategic priority of the GW OHT<sup>17</sup>. There is an opportunity to advocate for the intersections of mental health, substance use and homelessness through a health equity lens.

## **Workforce Funding Challenges**

In addition to the funding gaps previously discussed related to supportive housing, adequate funding for staffing within the housing services and supportive housing sector was a common challenge. Specifically, there was an emphasis on inadequate compensation for outreach workers and shelter staff. As a result of this funding gap, shelters are facing workforce burnout and staff retention challenges. While the relational component of outreach workers emerged as an effective and important component of the system, the funding is not reflective of this importance. "Emergency shelters are the least paid of any sector, hardest jobs outside of emergency services." Key Informant Interview Participant

"[It is] hard work to fund the relational piece.... If it's human spirit we need to tend to, then it's going to be slow. There is no cheap solution."

Key Informant Interview Participant

### Advocacy

Advocacy was identified as an important tool for municipalities to address funding gaps and challenges. Municipalities should continue to leverage these strengths, rather than advocating



for issues at the municipal level. There are advocacy associations that are well resourced and have access to provincial and federal governments including: Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM), Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO), Ontario Municipal Social Services Association (OMSSA) and Ontario Big City Mayors (OBCM).

## **CMSM-City Relationship**

Relationships emerged as the most important aspect when speaking to other municipalities about effective partnership between the CMSM and the other local cities/townships that they

serve. There are different arrangements of who serves as CMSM in each community across the province. Municipal key informants agreed that there are positives and negatives to each arrangement. It was noted that when the CMSM is the municipality with the larger population this can be a lot of power and that it can be challenging for the smaller municipalities to advocate for their needs when there is a power imbalance. At the same time, it is often the larger more urban municipalities where homelessness is more prominent and visible. There was agreement across municipal key informants that transparency

"There is no Systems Management for homelessness, and we need one moving forward." "How does the system work together? What are the barriers? What are the gaps? Are people getting the best type of service they can from the system?"

Key Informant Interview Participant

from the CMSM about how funding is being invested, what services are delivered and how well they are doing at meeting needs is critical to fostering healthy relationships and trust.

Municipal partners also expressed tension in being responsible for housing, but not accountable for the entire system. The most common challenge expressed was that there is no systems management for homelessness. This is an area where municipalities are looking to advocate to the province.

In terms of the local context, there is a sense that City Council is challenged in its ability to articulate to the CMSM what needs to be funded for housing. They often question whether they are currently funding things through the City that they should not, as they are often approached for funding requests. This is partly attributed to the fact that there is public confusion about the City's role to address specific components of the housing services. The City does not have a mandate for service delivery on the left-side of the housing continuum. Despite this, the City has expressed a desire for evidence-informed decision-making, rather than subjective and reactionary decision-making.

Overall, key informants from the City and County reflected that there is good communication at the staff-level, and people know where to go between City and County. This same level of communication and awareness needs to be created at the council-level. Specifically, governance and transparency of funding and impacts were identified as areas of focus for this relationship moving forward. More frequent updates from the Social Services Committee of the



County to City Council was one approach to address this. As well, clarity regarding the City's involvement in the Social Services Committee and how they can contribute to voting and decision-making is needed. A need for greater collaboration, communication, coordination, and clarity regarding roles and responsibilities was identified as an area of growth for the City and the County relationship.

## **Key Takeaways**

- 1) **Permanent Supportive Housing:** Given the identified importance of Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) in the housing continuum, it is not well funded.
  - a) Many partners indicated a need to invest and focus on PSH to best support the most vulnerable in our community. This type of investment would support a human rights-based approach and a Housing First approach to housing.
  - b) Similar to other communities, capital funds can be accessed for the building, but not the operational dollars to offer services (e.g., 10 Shelldale)
  - c) In Waterloo, the OHT, Housing Services and other municipal partners collaborate at a planning table to integrate housing and health services
- 2) Prevention for individuals/families at risk of or newly homeless: The Diversion & Rapid Rehousing Support Program shows potential to prevent individuals/families at risk of or newly homeless from accessing/staying at the emergency shelter system. This would divert individuals/families from entering chronic homelessness (i.e., at the 6-month mark)
- 3) Accessible, low-barrier daytime space: There is a lack of daytime low-barrier locations for people experiencing homelessness to go to for social support, recreational opportunities and support services (e.g., similar to the Grove Youth Wellness Hub, but for adults).
- 4) Visibility of Homelessness in Guelph: In Wellington County, homelessness is most visible in Guelph. For this reason, services on the far left of the housing continuum (e.g., emergency shelters) are all based in Guelph. This has led to confusion regarding roles, responsibilities, accountabilities and ownership of the left side of the housing continuum from partners and the community.
- 5) **Funding:** Funding for housing services on the left side of the housing continuum was a noted challenge across municipalities in Ontario. Some municipalities are looking for creative ways to flow housing funds into the community to best meet community needs (e.g., Federal dollars flowing through the United Way instead of the CMSM).
- 6) Measuring the effectiveness and impact of housing services: There are only a few examples of programs across the province that attempt to measure the impact and outcomes of housing services for people experiencing homelessness. Measurement tends to focus on process measures (e.g., number of people, costs etc.) as opposed to



client outcomes. This limits our understanding of how the overall system including specific services within the system meet/do not meet immediate and long-term outcomes.

- 7) **Collaboration:** The identified lack of a systems level collaborative approach to housing has and will continue to impact the ability to develop and implement community-based solutions in Guelph. A systems level collaborative model requires a commitment to a shared vision, accountability, defined mandates and roles.
- 8) Housing challenges are not unique to Guelph: The increasing challenges around the left side of the housing continuum are not unique to Guelph and are occurring across the province and country. This is a recurring theme that emerged throughout the system wide scan.



# **Guelph Community Consultations Findings**

## **Key Definitions**

**Crisis response:** offer treatments and support to individuals experiencing a crisis; provide immediate relief from symptoms, prevent the condition from worsening and resolve the crisis as soon as possible.

**Psychiatry:** focuses on the prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of mental, behavioural, and emotional disorders. Psychiatrists are medical doctors who specialise in the mental health field and can prescribe medications and perform procedures.

**Psychotherapy or counselling:** a type of treatment that helps individuals experiencing a wide array of mental health conditions and emotional challenges; it can help to alleviate symptoms and also help to identify the psychological root causes of one's condition. Typically takes place over multiple scheduled sessions working with a therapist or counsellor for individuals, families, or couples.

**Walk-in therapy options:** a type of psychotherapy that is provided on an as-needed basis where an individual does not require a referral or there is no waitlist to receive service; the individual seeking support can typically walk into an appointment on the same day or within a few days.

**Virtual self-guided mental health support programs:** offer mental health education and support via virtual platforms, websites, or downloadable apps where the user can self-guide themselves through online tutorials or resources of interest.

**Hospital or residential treatment programs:** is the most intensive form of treatment for mental health support as it typically involves longer-term treatment and care. This is often for those individuals who have serious mental health or behaviour concerns and need to live in a treatment environment.

**Mental health support groups:** a type of psychotherapy that is delivered in a group setting for individuals who wish to share mental health resources, personal experiences and feelings, coping strategies, and ask questions while talking in a group. The self-help support provided is typically more peer-based and offers an opportunity to bring people together who are going through or have gone through a similar experience.



## **Inventory of Services**

#### Mandates

Out of the 17 organizations that completed the inventory of services, eight organizations indicated that they have a mandate and/or strategic priorities to provide mental health services for adults 18+ in Guelph. There is one additional organization that provides mental health services for adults in Guelph without an organizational mandate and/or strategic priorities to provide these services.

### **Funding Summary**

The inventory of services is limited to those organizations that participated in this data collection method. Service and funding details should be interpreted with caution as these details were not provided by all organizations that provide mental health services for adults in Guelph. There are some services where service areas of focus overlap (e.g., a service focused on mental health, housing and substance use). In these instances, Collective Results reports on funding details in the primary service area of focus to avoid duplicating funding details across services.

Based on the organizations that completed the inventory of services, just over 19.9 million dollars is available for mental health services in Guelph. Across the five types of mental health services summarized on Table 5, hospital or residential treatment programs receive the largest proportion of these funds. (Table 5).



Housing Type	Base Funding	One-Time Funding	Other Funding	
Crisis Response	\$1,736,894.00	\$190,000.00	\$3,110,693.00	
Psychiatry	\$5,297,242.00	\$0	\$0	
Psychotherapy or Counselling Services	\$1,089,806.00	\$0	\$25,000.00 (Private Donors)	
Hospital or Residential Treatment Programs	\$8,200,000.00	\$0	\$0	
Other Mental Health Services	\$337,248.00	\$0	\$0	

Table 5. Summary of operational funding for mental health services in Guelph\*

\*As reported by the 17 organizations that completed the Inventory of Services

### **Crisis Response Services**

Of the 17 organizations that completed the inventory of services, eight crisis response services were identified in Guelph. Of the identified crisis response services, two are focused on youth (up to the age of 26), while the remaining services are available for all ages. Settings of the crisis response services include support within the emergency shelter system, the hospital, community response (e.g., police response), telephone support and community-based services. These services are funded through a combination of base funding, one-time-funding and other funding sources (not specified). Nine different funders for these services were identified including the Federal government, the Provincial government, along with local funders including the United Way and the County of Wellington (Figure 14).

#### Figure 14. Crisis response services in Guelph



(Spring 2024)<sup>1</sup>

1. Funding details not provided

2. Funding details captured within Substance Use - Harm Reduction

3. Funding details captured within Hospital or Residential Treatment

## **Psychiatry Services**

Of the 17 organizations that completed the inventory of services, four organizations indicated that they provide psychiatry services in Guelph. This excludes private services, such as private practitioners that require clients to pay out-of-pocket for services. Psychiatry services are funded by the Ministry of Health and Ontario Health (Figure 15).



Figure 15. Psychiatry services in Guelph

3. Funding details captured within Crisis Response

4. Funding details captured within Substance Use Services

## **Psychotherapy or Counselling Services**

Of the 17 organizations that completed the inventory of services, seven organizations indicated that they provide psychotherapy or counselling services in Guelph. This excludes private services, such as private practitioners that require clients to pay out-of-pocket for services. The majority of funding for psychotherapy and counselling services is provided by the Ministry of Health and Ontario Health (Figure 16).

9



#### Figure 16. Psychotherapy or counselling services in Guelph

4. Funding details captured within Hospital or Residential Treatment

5. Funding details captured within Substance Use

## **Hospital or Residential Treatment Services**

Of the 17 organizations that completed the inventory of services, two organizations indicated that they provide hospital or residential treatment services for mental health in Guelph. The majority of these services are provided by Homewood. The beds at Homewood include 246 specialized elective beds that are accessed by all Ontarians. Limited funding only allows 5 of these beds to be available as public ward beds. The remaining 241 specialized elective beds require individuals to have accommodation insurance or pay the accommodation portion out of pocket to access these programs. Homewood also has 58 CritiCall beds which are public ward beds and accessible to local patients. All of the public funding for hospital or residential treatment services is provided by the Ministry of Health (Figure 17).



#### Figure 17. Hospital or residential treatment services in Guelph

1.Funding details captured within Crisis Response

2. Funding details captured within Substance Use Services

### **Other Mental Health Services**

Of the 17 organizations that completed the inventory of services, five organizations indicated that they provide other types of mental health services in Guelph. These services include peer support, walk-in services, wellness classes, home based services and transitional services. This excludes private services, such as private practitioners that require clients to pay out-of-pocket for services. These services are funded by the Ministry of Health, Ontario Health and United Way (Figure 18).



#### Figure 18. Other mental health services in Guelph

## **Current State from the Perspective of PWLE**

## **Current experiences**

When asked about the current realities of those experiencing mental health issues in Guelph, PWLE interviewees highlighted long waitlists for mental health supports (e.g., psychiatry), which leads to self-medication during the waiting time; the importance of timely support when people are ready; and larger system issues (e.g., a broken system, collaboration needed).

"You have a short window to look for help and find help or else it's all downhill from there" PWLE Interview Participant

### **Need Met**

Interviewees noted that the CMHA counsellors and community health outreach van meet their needs.

### **Needs Unmet**

PWLE interviewees felt it was difficult to receive a correct diagnosis, to access affordable services that are covered by OHIP and to access a psychologist and/or psychiatrist.

## Assets

### From the perspective of community partners

The top community assets that positively impact the planning, delivery and funding of services for people with mental health concerns and/or illness Guelph indicated by community partner survey participants were a community understanding of the local mental health services available (54%); community connections and relationships (35%); collaborative community planning and actions (28%); and community commitment to improve population health (28%; Figure 19).

# Figure 19. Community understanding, community connections, collaborative planning and the commitment to improve population health were the most identified assets n=46



"I'm aware of one of the properties that CMHA, purchased on behalf of the Ministry of Health, is supporting people through Stonehenge in a harm reduction approach around various substance use and I think that's brilliant, and we need more of that" Community Partner Interview Participant Community partner survey and interview participants also highlighted specific services assets, including CMHA, Stonehenge, Homewood, Guelph General Hospital, the Guelph Community Health Centre and the Welcoming Streets Program.

## **Barriers**

### From the perspective of community partners

The top community barriers that negatively impact the planning, delivery and funding of services for people with mental health concerns and/or illness in Guelph indicated by community partner survey participants were a lack of funding and resources (57%); increasing complexity of issues as we emerge from the pandemic (55%); and trauma, grief, burnout and staffing shortages of front-line service providers (51%; Figure 20).

# Figure 20. Lack of funding and resources, increasing complexity of issues, and trauma, grief, burnout and staff shortages were the most identified barriers n=47



Community partner survey and interview participants expanded on these findings by highlighting the lack of funding's impact on access to services and adequate pay scales for

mental health workers, leading to high staff turnover rates, less qualified staff, and the inability to create proper therapeutic relationships with clients. Many of the participants indicated that all of the above factors contribute to burnout, trauma and staff shortages, with minimal mental health supports for staff.

The lack of alignment at a systems level across housing, substance use, and mental health seemed to be more apparent to participants as complexity of cases increased following the pandemic.

Additional barriers noted by some participants were the lack of long-term treatment options locally, the lack of long-term service system planning as the community grows and stigma/unsafe perceptions of the downtown area.

## **Overlaps and Duplications**

### From the perspective of community partners

There was very little overlap or duplications of services indicated by community partner participants. A small percentage of survey participants identified virtual supports and counselling services. Of those that do exist, it was felt by those participants that these areas could be streamlined by improved communication and coordination.

## Gaps

### From the perspective of PWLE

No specific gaps were described by PWLE interviewees.

### From the perspective of community partners

The majority of community partner survey participants felt there were service gaps pertaining to psychiatry (63%), hospital or residential treatment programs (63%), psychotherapy or counseling (55%) and crisis response (54%; Figure 21).

"Access to health is a huge barrier. Individuals who are hospitalized are released same day, no supports. No supports for medical, substance use nor mental health."

**Community Partner Interview** 

"Hard to get MH and addictions help when living on street." Community Partner Interview Participant



Figure 21. Psychiatry, hospital or residential treatment programs and psychotherapy or counselling were the most identified service gaps n=56



Community partner survey and interview participants expanded on gaps related to outpatient adult psychiatry detailing lack of local options and long waitlists for what is offered locally, especially for complex cases. Some participants also noted that these issues have substantial impacts when people require a diagnosis for access, but you need a psychiatrist to provide a diagnosis.

When discussing gaps with hospital or residential treatment programs, participants focused on the lack of local, accessible options since there are limited public beds available locally (see <u>the</u>

<u>Hospital or Residential Treatment Programs</u> in the Inventory of Services section above). Furthermore, it was mentioned that Homewood is not an ideal treatment facility for people experiencing homelessness because their free programs are not long enough to have any impact. This highlights further discussions around the lack of local treatment facilities that will help those with complex issues in addition to their mental health issues (e.g., trauma, substance use, homelessness, etc.). Lastly, some participants said that there is not a reliable link from hospital discharge to a treatment program.

In terms of psychotherapy or counselling gaps, participants discussed the very limited affordable/free options locally, since many of these services are not covered by OHIP. "When a person is discharged from a hospital or treatment facility because their needs are too complex or they are not responding to treatment offered, the response should not be to discharge into homelessness. We need discharge planning services and community-based services that work." Community Partner Interview Participant

Some participants highlighted the inefficiencies in crisis response services locally, which was linked to a lack of funding. For example, it was noted that there is a current lack of funding and staffing for Here 24/7.

"[For] struggling downtown, unhoused people. You don't know where to start... there's nowhere to kind of figure it out. How to get help or where the best place to get help would be and then the wait list... for months and months."

Community Partner Interview Participant Additional mental health gaps discussed by participants included the lack of an efficient continuity of care from crisis onwards and after discharge (e.g., hospital, incarceration); the lack of a systems level approach, noting challenges knowing where to start with complex cases; the lack of other supports that impact mental health, such as detox programs, withdrawal management, proper housing and food; and access to services that is not equitable (e.g., only offered during traditional hours).

## **Solutions**

## Solutions suggested by PWLE

Solutions suggested by PWLE interviewees focused on the need to address long waitlists for mental health services, especially for those services covered by OHIP.

## Solutions suggested by community partners

Community partner participants indicated that a systems level, collaborative approach would support a system that is truly integrated from the user's perspective. Furthermore, the importance of gaining clarity on mandates, roles and governance was highlighted. It was suggested that these elements would support a local continuum of care equipped with efficient pathways.

Another solution discussed by participants was acquiring sustainable funding for equitable access that adequately meets the growing demand in the community. The most frequent service area solutions identified related to improved access and availability of services were: accessible psychotherapy & more psychiatry; sustainable funding for equitable access that meets the demand; crisis response needs to be accessible and responsive (e.g., improve both 24/7, IMPACT); supportive housing, especially for complex cases; and more support from local hospitals (e.g., assess mental health and/or substance use issues before discharge, with proper discharge planning; more mental health beds that are available to everyone in the community).

"When we attempt to discharge people or they transition out of our service... when they are going out the door where are they going?... We don't have transitional, step-down, housing supports. It's easier to manage someone with specialized needs outside of a shelter system." Community Partner Interview Participant

## **Partner Collaboration**

#### From the perspective of community partners

As depicted in Figure 22, community partner survey participants indicated that community partner collaboration in the planning, delivery and funding of mental health services is currently viewed as mainly cooperation (32%) and networking (23%) with some early collaboration (e.g., formal agreements with CMHA and Stonehenge). The majority of participants indicated a desired future state of collaboration (65%).

Figure 22. Most respondents indicated that while collaboration is not the **current state** of community partnerships related to mental health, the ideal **future state** would be collaboration n=60



Definitions:

Networking: Partners share information and talk with one another for their mutual benefit. Loosely defined roles and minimal decision-making. Cooperation: Partners support one another's services but have no formal agreement in place. Somewhat defined roles and limited decision-making.

Coordination: Partners are engaged in mutual projects and initiatives, modifying their own activities to benefit the whole. Defined roles, shared decision making around joint work and sharing some resources.

Collaboration: A formal agreement in place and partners working together to achieve a shared vision. Formalized roles, equally shared ideas and decision making, trust and pooled resources.

When reflecting on the current state, community partner survey and interview participants indicated positive networking and relationships exist across the service area.



Participants also discussed the most important community action that should be taken to move towards a future state of collaboration. The most prominent suggestions focused on one shared collaborative vision with accountability measures and clarity on mandates and roles across mental health service agencies. This would include more transparency across all agencies, which has historically been challenging due to a prominent public sector-private sector tension. Furthermore, it

"[It is about] designing a system that works for the people who use the system, not the people who provide the service." Community Partner Interview Participant

was suggested that community mental health service agencies (e.g., CMHA Waterloo Wellington) and hospital services (e.g., Guelph General Hospital, Homewood) work more collaboratively. Lastly, oversight by one external body or level of government was mentioned. Additional suggestions included including PWLE in the collaborative process and acquiring adequate and creative funding.

## **System-Wide Scan Findings**

## **Overview**

The most common service type identified from the mental health environmental scan was psychotherapy or counselling, with 22 services offered at the municipal level. Treatment/recovery services were also prevalent (14 services), as well as hospital or residential treatment programs (13 services).

Several key themes emerged within the service descriptions reviewed. The importance of a more holistic approach to services was evident, with many services seeking to address an individual's co-occurring issues, such as substance use disorders, homelessness, mental health and/or involvement with the legal system. Additionally, "client-centered care" that is individualized and voluntary was commonly mentioned across many services (e.g., Barrie - CMHA Simcoe County Branch; CMHA Durham). The themes of "recovery-oriented services" and "wraparound services" were also evident across a multitude of services, as well as the importance of multidisciplinary outreach services, mobile services and community supports to help the most marginalized in the community who are less likely to be accessing traditional health and social services. Lastly, transitional and supportive housing for those living with serious mental illness (both short and long term) was commonly mentioned.

A systems level gap that emerged was a lack of investment in continuity of care, including transitions from hospital/residential treatment programs to community-based services. This approach requires a system reorientation from a medical model to invest in community-based services for mental health.



Notably, the systems level gaps for mental health services are not unique to Guelph and are being faced in municipalities across the province and country. Roadmap to Wellness<sup>18</sup> is a Ministry of Health plan (not implemented) to address this gap through a systems approach to mental health and substance use.

## **Emerging or Best Practices**

## Alternate Care Destination Model (London)

An emerging best practice that came from the environmental scan and key informant interview is the alternate care destination model in London, Ontario that emerged from a local summit on health and homelessness. This model was developed to address stigma and existing capacity issues with the emergency department, police and EMS in responding to issues related to homelessness, substance use and mental health. The model includes ten crisis stabilization beds funded through Ontario Health that are voluntary for individuals presenting with low to moderate needs related to mental health and substance use. This is a walk-in model that operates 24 hours per day, seven days per week.

This model has contributed to emergency department diversion in London, which has also reduced police and ambulance drop off times allowing them to get back on the road quicker. In addition, this approach provides a positive experience for individuals seeking mental health and substance use supports as they are able to avoid long waits in the emergency department and receive support and connection to appropriate services.

## **Youth Wellness Hubs**

Youth Wellness Hubs are "one-stop-shops" for youth aged 12-26 years old to address their needs related to mental health, substance use, primary care, education, employment, training, housing and other community and social services. These hubs include peer services, outreach, and system navigation services. There are currently 22 established "hubs" across the province<sup>19</sup>.

In Guelph, the youth wellness hub is called "The Grove". The Grove currently has a location at the University and is going to expand to include a new location at 737 Woolwich Street<sup>20</sup> (set to open in Fall 2023), and the YMCA (in Spring 2024). Approximately 26% of the funding for the Grove comes through the Province of Ontario, Youth Wellness Hubs Ontario, with the remaining funds raised through a variety of philanthropic initiatives including major gifts, corporate giving, grants and special events. Additional details about the Grove are summarized in the <u>housing section</u> of this report. Evaluation data is not currently available.

The wellness hub model appears to be an emerging best practice to integrate services and supports ranging from recreation to mental health to system navigation under one roof. This would be an interesting model to pilot for adult services that are not yet integrated in this way.

## **Assertive Community Treatment Teams (ACTT)**

The ACTT service provides support to a roster of clients with severe persistent mental illnesses, with or without concurrent substance abuse disorders. Most of these clients prior to being taken on as ACTT clients have experienced multiple repeat hospitalizations. ACTT provides support to assist individuals via medication administration and monitoring, housing support, social services and fostering connections. This service is delivered by an interprofessional team per provincial standards, including psychiatry. This model of care is not new but has proven to be effective<sup>21</sup>. In Guelph, there is a system of support that includes a support worker for standard cases, the Flexible Assertive Community Treatment (FACT) for less intense complex cases (offered by CMHA Waterloo Wellington), and the ACTT for chronically complex cases (offered by Homewood). While the ACTT and connected programs have emerged as best practice within the environmental scan, there continue to be challenges in accessing these services in Guelph and in communities across the province (e.g., long waitlists).

## **Funding Considerations**

### **Innovative and Emerging Streams of Funding**

#### **Ministry of Health**

The Ministry of Health provided information regarding funding priorities during a key informant interview. From this interview, it emerged that the Ministry is interested in virtual care models (both self-directed and online therapy). Unfortunately, this type of care does not fully align with the needs of the most vulnerable people in our community experiencing homelessness.

The Ministry is investigating shelter care models and wraparound services; however, there is currently no designated funding stream from the Ministry of Health for these services. This is being explored as a potential future funding opportunity. It appears that these new funding opportunities will be funded through Ontario Health regional services (i.e., Ontario Health West). In addition, Ontario Health is being tasked with the implementation of Roadmap to Wellness<sup>18</sup>, which is a plan to build a comprehensive and connected mental health and substance use system in Ontario. Given the role that Ontario Health and Ontario Health West will take in emerging streams of funding, in particular the intersection of health and housing, highlights the importance of municipal relationships with this sector.



## **Key Takeaways**

- 1) Lack of equitable access to services: The most vulnerable in our community without the means to pay out of pocket for services experience challenges and barriers in accessing mental health services. Examples include:
  - a) Hospital or Residential Treatment Programs: There are access challenges to local treatment programs for mental health due to long waitlists, under-funding, and a limited number of public ward beds.
  - b) Psychotherapy/Counselling: There are very limited affordable or free counseling options available. For example, one organization without a mandate to provide mental health counselling secured funding from a private donor to offer free counselling services to increase accessibility to these services.
- 2) **Crisis Response:** Challenges were noted in the crisis response system, including inconsistent response times for the IMPACT program and Here 24/7.
- 3) Lack of continuity of care: There is a lack of discharge planning for hospital/rehabilitation programs to community-based mental health services and supports. This was noted as a system gap in the system wide scan in other communities as well.
- 4) **Funding:** While there is an identified need to better integrate mental health services with the left side of the housing continuum, there are funding limitations from the Ministry of Health to integrate these services. The Ministry is looking into this as a potential funding opportunity.
- 5) Alternate Care Destination Model (London, Ontario): This model is an emerging best practice approach to provide mental health services outside of a hospital setting. Community partners in Guelph are preparing a funding proposal with support from Ontario Health West for this model to be developed and implemented in Guelph. There is currently not a dedicated funding stream to support this model.
- 6) Youth (Ages 12-26) Wellness Hub Model: This model has shown great impact locally (i.e., the Grove). There may be potential in considering this type of model for adults to access mental health services and supports in a low-barrier environment.
- 7) Collaboration: While there were a few examples of collaboration across agencies for mental health services, the lack of a systems level collaborative approach to mental health services has and will continue to impact the ability to develop and implement community-based solutions in Guelph. A systems level collaborative model requires a commitment to a shared vision, accountability, defined mandates and roles.



- 8) Mental health challenges are not unique to Guelph: The increasing challenges around mental health service access is not unique to Guelph and are occurring across the province and country. This is a recurring theme that emerged throughout the system wide scan.
  - a) The Ministry of Health's Roadmap to Wellness<sup>18</sup> has been created to connect mental health and substance use systems to create an easy to navigate system that provides access to the community-based services needed. Ontario Health is responsible for implementation



# Substance Use Services Findings

# **Guelph Community Consultations Findings**

## **Key Definitions**

**Harm Reduction:** Interventions, programs/policies that aim to reduce potential adverse health, social and economic consequences of substance use. These interventions acknowledge the rights and experience of substance users to support risk reduction in substance use, communicable disease transmission; poisoning deaths, unsafe setting use while increasing connection to community care and support.

**Treatment and Recovery:** Interventions that seek to improve the physical and emotional wellbeing of people experiencing difficulties related to substance use. This can include a broad range of community-based medical and counseling interventions, outreach support and other bio-psychosocial programs. These interventions would include a continuum of client-centered services that focus on developing the capacity to make healthy choices, ranging from abstinence-based programs to managed used programs, depending on the client's goals. Any door is the right door to access support.

**Community inclusion and safety:** This recognizes the community's need for peace, public order, and safety. Human connection is at the core of community safety and is prioritized, in addition to the enforcement components of the broader criminal justice system. It addresses the crime and social disorder related to substance use while protecting the vulnerable and preserving and protecting life.

## **Inventory of Services**

### Mandates

Out of the 17 organizations that completed the inventory of services, **seven organizations** indicated that they have a mandate and/or strategic priorities to provide substance use services for adults 18+ in Guelph.

## **Funding Summary**

The inventory of services is limited to those organizations that participated in this data collection method. Service and funding details should be interpreted with caution as these details were not provided by all organizations that provide substance use services for adults in Guelph. There are some services where service areas of focus overlap (e.g., a service focused on substance use, housing and mental health). In these instances, Collective Results reports on funding details in the primary service area of focus to avoid duplicating funding details across services. For example, Homewood operates an inpatient addiction medicine program, and those funding details are currently captured within the hospital and residential treatment program funding within the mental health section (see Table 5).



Based on the organizations that completed the inventory of services, just over 9 million dollars is available for substance use services in Guelph. When examining funding type, 25% of substance use funds are time-limited in the form of one-time funding and grants and the remaining 75% is in the form of base funding (Table 6).

Housing Type	Base Funding	One-Time Funding	Grants	
All services across the substance use support continuum	\$6,742,851.00	\$1,582,071.82	\$720,570.00	

Table 6. Summary of	operational	funding for	substance	use services in	Guelph*
	operational	10110110-101	Sabotanee		Gacipii

\*As reported by the 17 organizations that completed the Inventory of Services

## Substance Use Support Continuum

Of the 17 organizations that completed the inventory of services, eight organizations indicated that they provide services along the substance use support continuum in Guelph. This excludes private services, such as private practitioners that require clients to pay out-of-pocket for services. The settings of these services include community-based services and supports, residential/inpatient treatment programs and outreach supports. Nine different funders for these services were identified including the Federal government, the Provincial government, along with local funders including the City and the Downtown Guelph Business Association (Figure 23).

#### Figure 23. Substance use services in Guelph



1. Funding details not provided

## **Current State from the Perspective of PWLE**

## **Current Experiences**

When asked about the current realities of those experiencing substance use issues in Guelph, PWLE interviewees highlighted a high prevalence of substances in Guelph, including concerns about unsafe and/or dangerous substances (e.g., fentanyl); long wait list for accessible rehabilitation services; and stigma experienced as a person who uses substances.

"I don't want to go to the hospital and get treated differently because of my substance use past." PWLE Interview Participant

## **Need Met**

PWLE interviewees indicated that their needs around harm reduction and safe supply are currently met.

### **Needs Unmet**

PWLE interviewees identified factors that contributed to their current needs being unmet, which included the lack of system navigation support, accessible rehabilitation services and a long wait list for the safe supply program.

## Assets

### From the perspective of community partners

The top community assets that positively impact the planning, delivery and funding of services for people who use substances in Guelph indicated by community partner survey participants were collaborative community planning and actions (39%); community connections and relationships (38%); and local commitment to provide evidence-based treatment and recovery services (36%; Figure 24).



# Figure 24. Collaborative community planning, community connections and the local commitment to provide evidence-based services were the most identified assets n=56



Community partner survey and interview participants expanded on these findings by highlighting strong partnerships, such as the Wellington Guelph Drug Strategy, and the use of local data and best practices to provide evidence-based substance use services in the community.

## **Barriers**

## From the perspective of community partners

As shown in Figure 25, the top community barriers that negatively impact the planning, delivery and funding of services for people who use substances in Guelph indicated by community partner survey participants were lack of funding and resources (79%); stigma and discrimination of people who use substances in the community (57%); and lack of coordination across levels of government and institutions (Federal, Provincial, Municipal, Organizational; 50%).


## Figure 25. Lack of funding and resources, stigma and discrimination and the lack of coordination were the most identified barriers n=56



Community partner survey and interview participants expanded on these findings by highlighting the lack of funding for qualified staff. Some participants also felt the stigma associated with substance use and a general lack of empathy leads to under funding this service

area. The lack of a systems level approach was emphasized with discussions about agencies working in silos between and within their service areas (e.g., mental health, housing, substance use), and between different levels of government. Lastly, participants noted a lack of local, accessible treatment options in Guelph.

"At all levels at the federal level at the provincial level at the municipal level and just locally we are all a fighting for the same funding...Fighting to do the same work... not talking to each other about how we could do it better together." Community Partner Interview Participant

#### **Overlaps and Duplications**

#### From the perspective of community partners

The majority of community partner participants did not indicate any substance use service overlaps or duplication in Guelph. Of those who did indicate duplications, comments focused on harm reduction services, outreach services and downtown services.

#### Gaps

#### From the perspective of PWLE

PWLE interviewees identified service gaps related mainly to withdrawal and rehabilitation services. In particular, interviewees discussed a lack of local withdrawal management services and the lack of support between withdrawal management and rehabilitation services. "It's hard to get sober when you're not surrounded by sober people, there needs to be a place to transition and help you build the habits to get there. Need to have stepping stones in place to help people step by step to get sober." PWLE Interview Participant

#### From the perspective of community partners

Most community partner survey participants felt there were service gaps pertaining to treatment and recovery (75%), followed by community safety and inclusion (40%) and harm reduction (33%; Figure 26).

## Figure 26. Treatment and recovery, community safety and inclusion and harm reduction services were the most identified service gaps n=52

Treatment and recovery service gaps Community safety and inclusion service gaps Harm reduction service gaps Other types of substance use service gaps I'm not aware of any substance use service gaps



Community partner survey and interview participants expanded on the gaps above by noting long wait lists for withdrawal management programs and more safe supply programs and safe spaces needed for substance use (harm reduction).

Participants also identified a lack of wraparound services as a gap, focusing on the lack of integration with key housing services, such as permanent supportive housing. A lack of a local

"...supportive housing that goes hand in hand with withdrawal management, as well as after going into treatment, coming out and getting that additional support." Community Partner Interview Participant continuum of care was also discussed (e.g., limited discharge planning from hospital and rehabilitation services), although it was noted that a person who uses substances does not necessarily follow a linear continuum of care. Lastly, additional service area gaps mentioned were crisis stabilization beds and <u>alternate care destinations</u>.



### Solutions

#### Solutions suggested by PWLE

PWLE interviewees focused on solutions related to a local, accessible withdrawal management program; transitional or supportive housing options to help people move seamlessly between withdrawal management and rehabilitation (e.g., recovery houses); reducing the wait list for the safe supply program; and exploring decriminalization or regulated drug supply solutions.

"Reduce waiting list for safe supply. Once I get on the safe supply program, it will be easier to get on housing lists. Without that, housing is impossible." PWLE Interview Participant

Solutions suggested by community partners

Community partner survey and interview participants indicated a local, coordinated systems level approach (e.g., housing, mental health, substance use, etc.) is needed in the community. Similar to PWLE interviewees, community partner participants also identified affordable transitional or supportive housing options in between withdrawal management and rehabilitation with wraparound services available. Stonehenge's long-term <u>Supportive Addiction</u> and Mental Health Housing program is

similar to what is being suggested.

"No oversight body in our community right now that brings all parties together. OHTs all have transformational leads whose job it is to find all the resources and connect partners together. See this work really well at the OHT table. Want to see something like that when it comes to coordinating service for substance use, mental health and housing."

**Community Partner Interview Participant** 

Community members do not hear much about this program because it works well and is truly integrated into the community.

Some community partner participants discussed additional solutions, including anti-stigma and discrimination approaches, creating more safe spaces to use substances and most importantly, engaging PWLE in discussions and decisions regarding meaningful solutions.

### **Partner Collaboration**

As depicted in Figure 27, community partner survey participants indicated that community partner collaboration in the planning, delivery and funding of substance use services is currently viewed as mainly cooperation (26%) and networking (24%). The majority of participants indicated a desired future state of collaboration (68%).





## Figure 27. Most respondents indicated that while collaboration is not the **current state** of community partnerships related to substance use, the ideal **future state** would be collaboration n=50



Definitions:

Networking: Partners share information and talk with one another for their mutual benefit. Loosely defined roles and minimal decision-making. Cooperation: Partners support one another's services but have no formal agreement in place. Somewhat defined roles and limited decision-making.

Coordination: Partners are engaged in mutual projects and initiatives, modifying their own activities to benefit the whole. Defined roles, shared decision making around joint work and sharing some resources.

Collaboration: A formal agreement in place and partners working together to achieve a shared vision. Formalized roles, equally shared ideas and decision making, trust and pooled resources.

When reflecting on the current state, community partner survey and interview participants indicated positive networking and sharing of resources among partners, but no memorandums of understanding to support moving towards collaboration.

Participants also noted the most important community action that should be taken to move towards a future state of collaboration. The most prominent suggestions focused on a systems level collaborative with elements such as one shared community vision, clearly defined roles, shared resources, implementation of a continuum of care; trying different service models (e.g., system integration of substance, mental health, housing; OHT processes); increasing funding

and capacity to address gaps; and having external oversight of the service system (locally or from one level of government).

Alternatively, a fear of over collaboration was discussed by a few participants with a concern that agencies would lose their own mandates in a collaborative model. "Moving to a collaborative approach would be helpful with each organization understanding and staying true to their mission while being part and contributing to the bigger part of the system solution. Know what we each do well and do it together." Community Partner Interview Participant



### **System-Wide Scan Findings**

#### **Overview**

The most common service type identified from the substance use environmental scan was treatment/recovery services with 12 services offered at the municipal level. Within this service type, programming included services such as Rapid Access Addiction Medicine (RAAM) clinics, street outreach, trauma-informed clinics, and <u>Assertive Community Treatment Teams (ACTT)</u>. Services are also available for individuals with concurrent disorders (i.e., people experiencing addiction and mental illness), as well as clients with substance use issues who have been legally charged as a result.

Supportive housing was another common service type that emerged from this search, with 11 services. The goal of supportive housing is to increase the health and social outcome of people with problematic substance use by providing stable housing. The prevalence of this service in the substance use search points to the need for this service model as a systems level approach to mental health, substance use and homelessness. Supportive housing services are funded by the Ministry of Health and Ontario Health in some municipalities.

Withdrawal management was identified as a service gap in Guelph. This gap aligns with other municipalities in Ontario and the community consultations findings above. Only three services identified in the environmental scan mentioned offering withdrawal services.

#### **Emerging or Best Practices**

#### **Kingston Integrated Care Hub**

Kingston's Integrated Care Hub<sup>22</sup> (Kingston, Ontario) emerged across several interviews as an emerging best practice. This model is also recommended by the Ministry of Health. The integrated care hub was developed during the pandemic as a low barrier drop in space for safe consumption. The integrated care hub is built on partnerships with the goal of preventing emergency department visits for mental health and substance use challenges. Partners include mental health service providers, Trellis (HIV Agency), emergency shelter and the community health centre.

The Integrated Care Hub in Kingston was initially funded through the Social Services Relief Fund (SSRF) during the first two years of the pandemic. It is now funded through the Federal Reaching Home funding<sup>10</sup>, along with contributions from the municipality and United Way.

#### **Rapid Access Addiction Medicine (RAAM) Clinic**

The Rapid Access Addiction Medicine (RAAM) clinic was identified as an emerging/innovative opportunity from the key informant interviews. RAAM clinics provide low-barrier immediate



access and care for substance use management. RAAM clinics have the potential to reduce morbidity and mortality and improve quality of life for people with substance use disorder. In Guelph, the RAAM clinic is a service offered by Stonehenge Therapeutic Community<sup>23</sup>.

#### Ottawa Supportive Housing for People with Problematic Substance Use Program

This program emerged during the environmental scan as an interesting model due to the integration of a full 24-month outcome evaluation to understand the effectiveness of this Housing First program<sup>24</sup>. Overall, the study found that the Housing First clients experienced better housing outcomes than the comparison group, while the comparison group reported better findings in other areas (e.g., substance use, quality of life). This model illustrates the importance of integrating outcome evaluations within supportive housing programs.

#### **Funding Considerations**

#### **Innovative and Emerging Streams of Funding**

The Ministry is investigating shelter care models and wraparound services; however, there is currently no designated funding stream from the Ministry of Health for these services. This is being explored as a potential future funding opportunity. It appears that these new funding opportunities will be funded through Ontario Health regional services (i.e., Ontario Health West). In addition, Ontario Health is being tasked with the implementation of Roadmap to Wellness<sup>18</sup>, which is a plan to build a comprehensive and connected mental health and substance use system in Ontario. Given the role that Ontario Health and Ontario Health West will take in emerging streams of funding, in particular the intersection of health and housing, highlights the importance of municipal relationships with this sector.



### **Key Takeaways**

- 1) Lack of accessible services: The most vulnerable in our community experience barriers in accessing substance use services. Examples include:
  - a) **Local Treatment Programs:** There are access challenges to local treatment programs for substance use due to long waitlists, under funding and the existence of local public-private models of care.
  - b) **Stable and Sustainable Funding:** Funding can limit the availability of programs in the Guelph community. For example, the Safer Supply program is currently offered through a one-time funding opportunity through Health Canada, and it is unknown if this program will continue after the funding ends. The system wide scan also identified workforce challenges and pay equity for outreach workers who play an important support role in the community.
  - c) **Stigma:** Stigma and discrimination of people who use substances creates barriers in accessing services in the community.
- Lack of continuity of care: There is a lack of discharge planning for hospital/rehabilitation programs to community-based substance use services and supports.
- 3) Need for nimble connections across services: There is an identified need to ensure that people requiring substance use services can enter and exit services within the system as needed. It is important for funders, community partners and community members to understand that the service needs for clients do not follow a clear linear path. System navigation is essential to support movement through the system (this is currently a system gap).
- 4) Accessible, low-barrier daytime space with safe consumption options: There is a lack of daytime low-barrier locations for people with substance issues to go to for social support, recreational opportunities, safe consumption and support services (e.g., similar to the Grove Youth Wellness Hub, but for adults). The Kingston Integrated Care Hub is a promising model that provides this type of support in one location.
- 5) **Funding:** Overall, substance use services in Guelph receive far less funding compared to mental health and housing services for people experiencing homelessness (e.g., 9 million dedicated to substance use services and 46 million for mental health services).
- 6) **Collaboration:** While there were a few examples of collaboration across agencies for substance use services, the lack of a systems level collaborative approach to substance use services has and will continue to impact the ability to develop and implement community-based solutions in Guelph. A systems level collaborative model requires a commitment to a shared vision, accountability, defined mandates and roles.



- 7) **Substance use challenges are not unique to Guelph:** The increasing challenges around the substance use service access is not unique to Guelph and are occurring across the province and country. This is a recurring theme that emerged throughout the system wide scan.
  - a) The Ministry of Health's Roadmap to Wellness<sup>18</sup> has been created to connect mental health and substance use systems to create an easy to navigate system that provides access to the community-based services needed. Ontario Health is responsible for implementation.



## **Overarching Takeaways**



### **Overarching Takeaways**

Although there were key takeaways within each service section above, there were also strong themes that emerged across all three service areas.

- 1) A human rights-based approach to housing needs to be prioritized in Guelph. This approach will provide the City with the needed framework rooted in legislation (the National Housing Strategy Act, 2021), to support people experiencing homelessness in the community.
- 2) There is a need for greater collaboration and systems level planning to support integration of housing services, mental health services and substance use services for people experiencing homelessness. There is a lack of alignment across these service areas locally, with a siloed approach. This is not unique to Guelph. Examples of this locally are:
  - a) Lack of continuity of care

i)

- Local discharge planning from hospital/rehabilitation/treatment/incarceration to transitional or supportive housing, community-based services, etc.
- b) Lack of equitable access to services
  - Limited housing options for complex, concurrent mental health and/or substance use issues; long wait times for mental health and substance use services
- c) Lack of wraparound services in housing
- 3) There is a need to focus on **permanent supportive housing,** including investments in both capital and operational expenditures, along with outcome evaluation measures built in to best support the most vulnerable in our community. This type of investment would support a human rights-based approach to housing.
- 4) Funding barriers currently exist for an integrated systems approach to occur. Greater investments and flexibility with how and where funding can be used is required across all service areas to meet community needs. Examples of this include:
  - a) There is not always the ability for the funding from the Ministry of Health to wrap around the services needed in housing.
  - b) There are not enough beds/units on the left side of the housing continuum in Guelph (e.g., emergency shelter, transitional housing, supportive housing, RGI) to meet community needs.

### Recommendations

for City Council

### Recommendations

Recommendations have been developed to align with the key takeaways and overarching takeaways identified within this report. For ease of reference, recommendations have been summarized as systems level recommendations, housing focused recommendations and health services focused recommendations. The recommendations are best viewed as a comprehensive suite of actions that if taken together have the potential to best serve and support the most vulnerable members of the community.

#### **Systems Level Recommendations**

Systems level recommendations are those that span across housing, substance use and mental health. The overarching systems level recommendations are encouraged to promote cross-sectoral and intergovernmental collaboration.

#### System Recommendation 1

The City of Guelph adopt a human rights-based approach to housing (with Housing First built in) to align with the National Housing Strategy.

#### Examples of how System Recommendation 1 can be operationalized:

- There are important strengths of this approach that warrants adoption at a municipal level. Unlike the reactionary approach that many municipalities in Ontario are taking by declaring a state of emergency on homelessness, a human rights-based approach to housing sets out a long-term vision for housing and focuses on improving housing outcomes for those in greatest need. Embedded within this approach are the principles of non-discrimination, inclusion, participation and accountability.
- Invest in education for City Councillors and staff related to a human rights-based approach to housing. This will support the City in making informed decisions, critically evaluate requests and recommendations and provide enhanced accountability.
- This approach will allow City actions to be complementary and supportive of the County of Wellington mandate, roles, responsibilities and their 10-Year Housing and Homelessness Plan. The City could also recommend that the County adopt a human rights-based approach to further support understanding community needs, planning to address needs, funding decisions and using participatory approaches with people with lived experiences at each stage.
- This approach can support intergovernmental collaboration to address homelessness, which has been identified as a key gap from the environmental scan and community consultations.

#### System Recommendation 2

Council requests that the Government of Ontario develop and adopt a provincial housing strategy with measurable targets and sufficient funds for ending homelessness and ensuring access of all Ontarians, including those of limited income, to housing of an adequate standard without discrimination. It should also take into consideration the needs of Indigenous people, LGBTQ2S+ people, people with disabilities including mental illness, women experiencing domestic violence, lone parents, immigrants and newcomers and other people living in poverty or with low incomes. (Adapted from Kitchener's Housing For All: A Human Rights Based Strategy to Address Homelessness and Housing document)<sup>8</sup>

#### **System Recommendation 3**

Council requests that the Guelph Wellington Ontario Health Team work with the Guelph and Wellington Task Force for Poverty Elimination to:

- a. plan for the integration of health services in the housing sector (wraparound supports)
- b. address the community need for permanent supportive housing

This planning should include City, County and Ontario Health West representation and be aligned with provincial direction and/or strategy.

#### **System Recommendation 4**

Council requests the County of Wellington, in collaboration with local municipalities and local health organizations, jointly advocate to the Ministry of Health to provide accessible base funding to support wraparound health supports on the left side of the housing continuum.

#### **System Recommendation 5**

Council requests that the Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health Board of Health lead an ongoing, comprehensive outcome evaluation of the systems level approach to homelessness (housing, mental health and substance use focus), whether it be working with the Guelph Wellington Ontario Health Team or with the City and the County.

#### **System Recommendation 6**

Council requests that the Chamber of Commerce approach developers to donate land for housing needs and wraparound services on the left side of the housing continuum including, but not limited to, emergency shelters, transitional housing, supportive housing and wellness hubs. The City must be prepared to facilitate the required approvals connected with these opportunities. This should directly connect with the local collaborative plans (see System Recommendation 3).

#### **Housing Focused Recommendations**

Housing focused recommendations are those that are specific to housing. These recommendations are complementary to, and align with, the systems level recommendations.

#### **Housing Recommendation 1**

Council requests the following to establish clarity and accountability regarding the City and the County's role in the housing continuum:

- a. A review of the governance model of the County of Wellington's Social Services Committee
- b. Updated service level agreements, with measurable outcomes, key performance indicators and clear expectations for reporting process and frequency
- c. The City of Guelph should hire a dedicated role to support (a), (b), and the implementation of a human rights-based approach to housing (see System Recommendation 1). This role should be an active member of the County of Wellington's Community Advisory Board.

#### Examples of how Housing Recommendation 1 can operationalized:

**Social Services Committee of the County of Wellington:** Given that the City provides municipal contributions to the County of Wellington to do the service plan and funding allocation, it is reasonable and responsible to expect that the City of Guelph have appropriate representation on the Social Services Committee, including votes.

**Federal Reaching Home Funding:** Accountability can be increased with the County of Wellington through the required community advisory board (CAB).

- At the CAB, the City can hold the County accountable to ensuring that planning and funding decisions with Federal funding are based on a Housing-First Approach.
- The City needs to consider who is best positioned to sit at these decisionmaking bodies to hold accountability. Ideally, these would be people with an understanding of homelessness, housing services, and a human rightsbased approach to housing. This can connect directly with the capacity building identified in System Recommendation 1.

**Regular reports (City to determine frequency):** Reports from the County of Wellington to City Council would ensure transparency of service planning, funding, and opportunity for City to advocate to the County.

#### **Housing Recommendation 2**

Council requests that City staff undertake a review of the City's role and process in informing funding decisions for housing services on the left-side of the housing continuum (this includes funding for daytime shelter space). This should directly connect with a human rights-based approach to housing (see System Recommendation 1), the local collaborative plans (see System Recommendation 3), and the City's role in the housing continuum (see Housing Recommendation 1).

#### **Housing Recommendation 3**

To be reviewed in Closed Session with Council.

#### **Health Services Focused Recommendations**

Health services focused recommendations are those that are specific to health services, including mental health and substance use. These recommendations are complementary to, and align with, the systems level recommendations.

#### **Health Services Recommendation 1**

Council requests that City staff provide CMHA Waterloo Wellington with a letter of support for the funding application to the Ministry of Health for a regional alternate care destination clinic.

#### **Health Services Recommendation 2**

Council requests that the Ministry of Health provide clarity on how all mental health services in Guelph are funded, including community-based services, hospital/residential services and public-private models of care, to determine if the funding model impacts equitable access to mental health services in Guelph.

#### **Health Services Recommendation 3**

Council supports the Guelph Police Service (GPS) and CMHA Waterloo Wellington's second application to the Solicitor General for Here 24/7 & IMPACT funding. Council requests that GPS provide a copy of the written submission to City staff when it has been finalized so that staff may provide a letter of support on behalf of Council.

#### **Health Services Recommendation 4**

Council requests that the Wellington Guelph Drug Strategy continue to address known substance use service barriers including, but not limited to, funding, access and waitlists, to improve substance use services available to vulnerable populations within Guelph.

#### References

- Macleod M. Understanding our Communities' Health [Internet]. [cited 2023 May 4]. Available from: https://www.swpublichealth.ca/en/reports-andstatistics/resources/Community-Health-Status-and-Surveillance/REP-201904\_understanding\_our\_communities\_health\_-\_full\_report.pdf
- Urgent Issues Related to Homelessness, Mental Health and Addictions City Council -July 18, 2022 [Internet]. pub-guelph.escribemeetings.com. [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://pub-guelph.escribemeetings.com/Meeting.aspx?Id=0089345f-6e91-4ec9bc93-a2af016ea516&Agenda=PostMinutes&lang=English&Item=25&Tab=attachments
- Attachment-1 Housing Continuum and Glossary of Housing Terms [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://pubguelph.escribemeetings.com/filestream.ashx?DocumentId=8331
- Wellington County. Policies and Planning Housing [Internet]. www.wellington.ca. 2023 [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://www.wellington.ca/en/social-services/hsplans-policies-and-data.aspx#County-of-Wellington-Housing-Services-Centralized-Waiting-List-and-Housed-Data
- 5. Youth Mental Health | The Grove Hubs | Guelph [Internet]. The Grove Hubs. Available from: https://www.thegrovehubs.ca/
- 6. The National Right to Housing Network [Internet]. The National Right to Housing Network. Available from: https://housingrights.ca/
- The Shift The Shift is a worldwide movement to reclaim and realize the fundamental human right to housing [Internet]. The Shift #Right2Housing. [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://make-the-shift.org/
- Housing For All. a blueprint for a more caring community. [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://www.kitchener.ca/en/resourcesGeneral/Documents/DSD\_PLAN\_Housing\_For\_A II Kitchener Housing Strategy.pdf
- 9. Homeless Hub. Housing First | The Homeless Hub [Internet]. Homelesshub.ca. 2012. Available from: https://www.homelesshub.ca/solutions/housing-accommodation-andsupports/housing-first
- Canada I. Infrastructure Canada About Reaching Home: Canada's Homelessness Strategy [Internet]. www.infrastructure.gc.ca. 2022. Available from: https://www.infrastructure.gc.ca/homelessness-sans-abri/index-eng.html
- 11. Canadian Mental Health Association. Home [Internet]. CMHA Simcoe County. Available from: https://cmhastarttalking.ca/

- 12. TVO Today | Current Affairs Journalism, Documentaries and Podcasts [Internet]. www.tvo.org. [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://www.tvo.org/article/quote-ofnote-a-hamilton-doctor-on-the-citys-response-to-homeless-encampments
- 13. DNSSAB | Homelessness [Internet]. www.dnssab.ca. [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://www.dnssab.ca/housing-services/homelessness/
- 14. Shelters [Internet]. Fred Victor. Available from: https://www.fredvictor.org/what-wedo/housing/shelters/
- 15. Ontario Public Health Standards: Requirements for Programs, Services and Accountability Protecting and Promoting the Health of Ontarians [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph\_standards/docs/pro tocols\_guidelines/Ontario\_Public\_Health\_Standards\_2021.pdf

- 16. KW4 OHT Community Council Design Committee (CCDC) Community Engagement Strategy Final Draft [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://www.kw4oht.com/\_files/ugd/892206\_d547c49c77d243b698472576b5cd2498.p df
- Strategic Priorities [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://guelphwellingtonoht.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/PRES\_20220705\_GW-OHT-Strategic-Priorities\_FINAL-for-WebSitev2.pdf
- Roadmap to wellness: a plan to build Ontario's mental health and addictions system [Internet]. Ontario.ca. 2020. Available from: https://www.ontario.ca/page/roadmapwellness-plan-build-ontarios-mental-health-and-addictions-system
- 19. Youth Wellness Hubs Ontario [Internet]. Youth Wellness Hubs Ontario. Available from: https://youthhubs.ca/en/
- 20. CMHA Waterloo Wellington: Children & Youth Services Building 737 Woolwich Street Guelph [Internet]. CMHA Waterloo Wellington. [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://cmhaww.ca/newbuilding/
- 21. A crisis of neglect: How society can help those with mental illness. The Globe and Mail [Internet]. 2023 Jul 14 [cited 2023 Jul 15]; Available from: https://www.theglobeandmail.com/opinion/article-a-crisis-of-neglect-how-society-canhelp-those-with-mental-illness/
- 22. Consumption and Treatment Services Kingston Community Health Centres [Internet]. kchc.ca. [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://kchc.ca/barrack-street/cts/
- 23. Rapid Access Addiction Medicine Clinics (RAAM) Stonehenge Therapeutic Community [Internet]. stonehengetc.com. [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://stonehengetc.com/our-programs/addiction-medicine-withdrawal/rapid-accessaddiction-clinic-raac/

- 24. Cherner R, Aubry T, Sylvestre J. Evaluation of the 24-Month Outcomes of the Ottawa Supportive Housing for People with Problematic Substance Use Program Evaluation Team [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://irp.cdnwebsite.com/7d37d10d/files/uploaded/Evaluation%20of%20the%2024-MonthOutcomes%20of%20the%20Ottawa%20Supportive%20Housing%20for%20People %20with%20ProblematicSubstance%20Use%20Program.pdf
- 25. Guelph/Wellington: Community Progress Indicators [Internet]. Google Docs. [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1aeCbwZ0yivd6jGTU1HSqOTUATAkj3zgZXLVH 0T7iyOk/edit#gid=2053555096
- 26. Built for Zero Canada Functional Zero Homelessness Question and Answer Document UPDATED [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://bfzcanada.ca/wp-content/uploads/Functional-Zero-QA.pdf
- 27. Policies and Planning Housing [Internet]. www.wellington.ca. 2023 [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://www.wellington.ca/en/social-services/hs-plans-policies-anddata.aspx#Housing-Services-Status-and-Activity-Reports
- 28. Overdose and Drug Use Information System (ODIS) Health Analytics Wellington Dufferin Guelph [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jul 18]. Available from: https://bi.wdgpublichealth.ca/odis/
- 29. Wellington Dufferin Guelph Public Health. Board of Health Report Opioid Surveillance Update. [cited 2023 Jul 26]. Available from: https://wdgpublichealth.ca/sites/default/files/bh.01.apr0523.r13\_-\_opioid\_surveillance\_update.pdf?utm\_source=guelphtoday.com&utm\_campaign=guelp htoday.com%3A%20outbound&utm\_medium=referral
- 30. Gaetz S, Barr C, Friesen A, Harris B, Hill C, Kovacs-Burns K, et al. Canadian Definition of Homelessness. Toronto: Canadian Observatory on Homelessness Press. 2012.
- 31. World Health Organization. Mental Health, 2022 [Internet]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-strengthening-ourresponse
- 32. Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care Substance Use Prevention and Harm Reduction Guideline, 2018 [Internet]. Available from: https://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph\_standards/docs/pro

tocols\_guidelines/Substance\_Use\_Prevention\_and\_Harm\_Reduction\_Guideline\_2018\_e n.pdf

33. Wraparound Services [Internet]. Housing Forward. 2021. Available from: https://www.housingforward.org/programs/wraparoundservices#:~:text=Wraparound%20services%20are%20designed%20to

#### Appendix A: Local Data Scan\*

\*Please note: Mental health data was not included in the local data scan because relevant data sources available were not recent (i.e., 2016 or later).

#### **Housing Data**

The number of individuals experiencing <u>chronic</u> active homelessness in Guelph-Wellington has remained relatively consistent since December 2021<sup>25</sup>(Figure 1).





Definition: Chronic homelessness is experienced if someone is currently homeless and has been homeless for six months or more in the past twelve months<sup>26</sup>.

The Guelph-Wellington By-Name List is a real-time list of all people experiencing homelessness in Wellington County, managed by the County<sup>27</sup>. Information gathered through the By-Name List helps to understand who is coming into the homelessness system (in-flow) and who is being housed or leaving the system (out-flow). The in-flow and out-flow of the Guelph-Wellington By-Name List has varied significantly over the last two years<sup>4</sup> (Figure 2). However, the total number of active applications (i.e., households waiting) for Rent-Geared-to-Income assistance for subsidized housing in Wellington County plateaued in the second quarter of 2022<sup>4</sup> (Figure 3).



Figure 2. The **in-flow** and **out-flow** of the Guelph-Wellington By-Name List has varied significantly over the last two years

Figure 3. The total number of **active applications for Rent-Geared-to-Income assistance** for subsidized housing in Guelph-Wellington plateaued in the second quarter of 2022



#### Substance Use Data

Opioid-related harms have also become a growing concern in the community. The rate of opioid-related emergency department (ED) visits in Guelph and Ontario began increasing in 2016<sup>28</sup>(Figure 4). In 2022, Guelph saw a downward trend of opioid-related ED visits to an estimated 88 ED visits per 100,000<sup>29</sup>.



Figure 4. The rate of opioid-related ED visits in Guelph and Ontario began increasing in 2016

In 2022, the Guelph neighbourhoods with the greatest number of overdose incidents were Downtown – Sunny Acres and Exhibition Park<sup>28</sup>(Figure 5). Additionally, overdose incidents were most reported from 9 am to 4 pm and 7 pm to 9 pm<sup>28</sup> (Figure 6).

Figure 5. **Downtown – Sunny Acres** and **Exhibition Park** had the greatest number of overdose incidents in Guelph in 2022



Figure 6. Overdose incidents were most reported from 9 am to 4 pm and 7 pm to 9 pm in Guelph in 2022



People of all ages are at risk of overdose incidents; however, individuals between the ages of 25 and 54 (Figure 7) had the greatest number of overdose incidents in Guelph in 2022<sup>28</sup>.





#### **Appendix B: Additional Definitions**

**Homelessness:** Homelessness describes a range of housing and shelter circumstances, with people being without any shelter at one end, and being insecurely housed at the other<sup>30</sup>. That is, homelessness encompasses a range of physical living situations, organized here in a typology that includes<sup>30</sup>:

- 1) Unsheltered, or absolutely homeless and living on the streets or in places not intended for human habitation;
- 2) Emergency Sheltered, including those staying in overnight shelters for people who are homeless, as well as shelters for those impacted by family violence;
- 3) Provisionally Accommodated, referring to those whose accommodation is temporary or lacks security of tenure; and
- 4) At Risk of Homelessness, referring to people who are not homeless, but whose current economic and/ or housing situation is precarious or does not meet public health and safety standards.

It should be noted that for many people homelessness is not a static state but rather a fluid experience, where one's shelter circumstances and options may shift and change quite dramatically and with frequency<sup>30</sup>.

**Mental Health:** Mental health refers to a state of well-being and includes one's emotions, connection to others, thoughts and feelings, and being able to manage life's highs and lows. The presence or absence of a mental illness is not a predictor of mental health, as someone without a mental illness can still experience poor mental health. Similarly, a person with a mental illness can experience positive mental health. Everyone has mental health and will experience challenges regarding their mental well-being at various times in their life and may seek support through mental health services. For the purposes of this project, we will be focusing on mental health concerns or mental illness where people may seek support from mental health service organizations<sup>31</sup>.

**People with Lived Experience/Expertise (PWLE):** This is a working definition of "PWLE" that was developed to align with the scope of this project. PWLE includes individuals who have personal experience with substance use, homelessness and/or mental health at some point in their life.

**Services:** This is a working definition of "services" that was developed to align with the scope of this project. In this context, services are those delivered to people who require treatment (i.e., clinical services) and/or support for mental health, substance use and housing. These services are meant to improve/change their current circumstance (i.e., receive services from health professionals to improve mental health and/or reduce harms related to substance use; acquire emergency shelter, supportive, or transitional housing). For the purposes of this project, this does not include services that are preventive in nature (e.g., health education programs, resilience programs, etc.). Services are provided by government, non-for-profit, and

community-based agencies. This does not include private services, such as private practitioners that require clients to pay out-of-pocket for services.

**Substances:** Substances include a wide range of regulated and unregulated substances, such as, but not limited to, cannabis, alcohol, opioids, stimulants, and hallucinogens<sup>32</sup>.

**Substance Use:** Substance use can be represented along a spectrum which contains varying patterns of use ranging from abstinence to having a substance use disorder<sup>32</sup>.

- 1) Abstinence: abstain from substance use (i.e., "no use").
- 2) Beneficial use: substance use where benefits outweigh the harms (e.g., opioids, cannabis or other prescription medications used as prescribed by a health care provider with ongoing medical supervision).
- 3) Non-problematic: Recreational substance use that has negligible health or social effects (e.g., consumption of alcohol or cannabis in accordance with lower-risk consumption guidelines).
- 4) Problematic Use: Pattern and type of use (such as those defined under 'potentially harmful' and 'substance use disorder'), which has a higher risk of individual and societal health impacts.
- 5) Potentially Harmful: episodic use that can lead to negative consequences for individuals, friends/family, communities or society (e.g., use at an early age, binge consumption, impaired driving, harmful routes of substance administration).
- 6) Substance Use Disorder: use that has become a physical and/or mental addiction characterized by frequent and compulsive use despite negative health and social effects <sup>32</sup>.

For the purposes of this project, we will be focusing on problematic use, potentially harmful use and substance use disorders.

**Wraparound Services:** Wraparound services refers to a comprehensive, team-based approach to providing supports and resources to support those unhoused or those in transitional housing. Wraparound services are designed to provide comprehensive, personalized supports and resources so that individuals and families are able to address the complex issues and challenges that often accompany homelessness and can interfere with obtaining long-term housing stability<sup>33</sup>.

## Review and Gap Analysis of Housing, Substance Use & Mental Health Services for People Experiencing Homelessness in Guelph

Collective Results Inc. September 12, 2023





# **COMMUNITY CONTEXT**

- Collective Results acknowledges that many organizations and collaborative planning tables in the community have, and continue to, lead great work in the areas of housing services, mental health services and substance use services for people experiencing homelessness.
- This report is not intended to override those efforts, but rather to complement the work that is already underway.





# **Project Background**

- Urgent issues related to homelessness, mental health and substance use are increasing in the city
- The City has (and will likely continue) to receive funding requests for these services
- Current approach has been fragmented and reactionary
- Seeking a framework to support an intentional and coordinated approach
- Findings and recommendations will support City Council in the development of multi-year budget



# PROJECT PURPOSE AND SCOPE: LEFT SIDE **OF THE HOUSING CONTINUUM**

## HOUSING CONTINUUM

**Guelph-Wellington** 



2,000 units a year facilitated



## **PROJECT SCOPE**

### In Scope

- An analysis of the current state, gaps and recommendations specific to issues of homelessness, substance use and mental health in Guelph.
- **Recommendations for consideration by City Council** that consider a **system-wide approach** to these issues.
- Specific program/service recommendations for consideration only included for those the City funds.

### **Out of Scope**

- providers within Guelph.
- the City and the County.
- Interventions focused on the **prevention** of substance use, mental health and homelessness.
- Interventions focused solely on youth **under the age** of 18.
- affordable housing.

## • Assessment of the effectiveness of the service

## • Revisiting the legally binding relationship between

## • The **right side of the housing continuum**, including



## **PROJECT LIMITATIONS**

- Point in time assessment as of June 2023
- A **focused validation process** occurred, as opposed to a comprehensive process with community partners and people with lived/living experience (PWLE)
- The inventory of services is limited to those organizations that participated in this data collection method
- All survey and interview data is a collection of subjective perceptions and experiences
- PWLE interviews were conducted in key downtown locations; self-selection bias
- System wide scan focused on other Ontario municipalities, excluded academic scholars





# **APPROACH: LOCAL COMMUNITY** CONSULTATIONS

**Purpose:** To determine the local current state of services and funding, and to identify gaps and areas of opportunity.









# **APPROACH: SYSTEM WIDE SCAN**

**Purpose:** To determine services and funding at the federal, provincial, and municipal-levels (similar-sized communities) and to identify innovative/emerging best practices.







\*One person could have multiple areas of expertise



# **KEY FINDINGS**







# **SOME THINGS ARE WORKING WELL**

- Understanding community need
  - Example: By-Name List
- Community **partnerships** and **relationships** 
  - Examples: Wellington Guelph Drug Strategy; formal agreements between CMHA & Stonehenge
- Local commitment to provide **best practices** and use of **local data** 
  - Example: FAST Overdose Alert Platform





# **SOME AREAS OF OPPORTUNITY IDENTIFIED**

### Access to local programs, services

- Long wait lists
  - Housing supports (e.g., permanent supportive housing)
  - Mental health services (e.g., psychiatry, psychology, rehabilitation services)
  - Substance use services (e.g., withdrawal management, rehabilitation services)
- Not always equitable
  - Offered during traditional work hours
  - Limited public ward beds available for residential treatment programs
- Low-barrier spaces for adults experiencing homelessness
- Adequate funding, supports to meet growing needs
  - More complex cases; Increase in breadth of complexity
  - Staff burnout, trauma




## SOME AREAS OF OPPORTUNITY IDENTIFIED

- Focus on acquiring stable housing first
  - Emphasis on supportive housing, wraparound services
- A collaborative, systems level approach
  - Integration of housing and health sectors
  - Within service sectors
- Clarity on roles, accountability
  - Example: County, City







### The current state of community partnership is mainly networking and cooperation





### The ideal future state of community partnership is collaboration















### **RECOMMENDATIONS OVERVIEW**





Δ

13

### **HOUSING FOCUSED RECOMMENDATIONS**



**TOTAL RECOMMENDATIONS** 















### **System Recommendation 1**

The City of Guelph adopt a human rights-based approach to housing (with Housing First built in) to align with the National Housing Strategy.





# **System Recommendation 1: Human-Rights Based Approach** to Housing

### Based on the following key takeaway:

A human rights-based approach to housing needs to be prioritized in Guelph. This approach will provide the City with the needed framework, rooted in legislation (the National Housing Strategy Act, 2021), to support people experiencing homelessness in the community.







## **System Recommendation 1: Human-Rights Based Approach** to Housing

### How this could be operationalized:

- vulnerable
- Education for City Councillors and Staff

  - Enhanced accountability
- Plan
- Support intergovernmental collaboration



Long-term vision for housing, focusing on housing outcomes for the most

Informed decisions, critically evaluate requests and recommendations

Complement the County's mandate, 10-Year Housing and Homelessness





## **System Recommendation 2**

Council requests that the Government of Ontario develop and adopt a provincial housing strategy with measurable targets and sufficient funds for ending homelessness and ensuring access of all Ontarians, including those of limited income, to housing of an adequate standard without discrimination. It should also take into consideration the needs of Indigenous people, LGBTQ2S+ people, people with disabilities including mental illness, women experiencing domestic violence, lone parents, immigrants and newcomers and people living in poverty or with low incomes.





## **System Recommendation 2: Provincial Housing Strategy** Advocacy

### Based on the following key takeaway:

Funding barriers currently exist for an integrated systems approach to occur. Greater investments and flexibility with how and where funding can be used is required across all service areas to meet community needs.







### **System Recommendation 3**

Council requests that the Guelph Wellington Ontario Health Team work with the Guelph and Wellington Task Force for Poverty Elimination to:

a. plan for the integration of health services in the housing sector (wraparound supports)
b. address the community need for permanent supportive housing

This planning should include City, County and Ontario Health West representation and be aligned with provincial direction and/or strategy.





## **System Recommendation 3: Local Collaboration**

### Based on the following key takeaways:

- There is a need for greater collaboration and systems level planning to  $\bullet$ support integration of housing services, mental health services and substance use services for people experiencing homelessness. There is a lack of alignment across these service areas locally, with a siloed approach. There is a need to focus on permanent supportive housing, including investments in both capital and operational expenditures, along with outcome evaluation measures built in to best support the most vulnerable in our community. This type of investment would support a human
- rights-based approach to housing.







### **System Recommendation 4**

Council requests the County of Wellington, in collaboration with local municipalities and local health organizations, jointly advocate to the Ministry of Health to provide accessible base funding to support wraparound health supports on the left side of the housing continuum.





# **System Recommendation 4:** Wraparound Health Supports Advocacy

### Based on the following key takeaway: While there is an identified need to better integrate mental health services and substance use services with the left side of the housing continuum, there are funding limitations from the Ministry of Health to integrate these services.







### **System Recommendation 5**

Council requests that the Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health Board of Health lead an ongoing, comprehensive outcome evaluation of the systems level approach to homelessness (housing, mental health and substance use focus), whether it be working with the Guelph Wellington Ontario Health Team or with the City and the County.





# System Recommendation 5: **Comprehensive Outcome Evaluation**

### Based on the following key takeaways:

- There is a need for greater collaboration and systems level planning to support integration of housing services, mental health services and substance use services for people experiencing homelessness. There is a lack of alignment across these service areas locally, with a siloed approach.
- There are only a few examples of programs across the province that attempt to measure the impact and outcomes of housing services for people experiencing homelessness. Measurement tends to focus on process measures (e.g., number of people, costs etc.) as opposed to client outcomes. This limits our understanding of how the overall system, including specific services within the system, meet/do not meet immediate and long-term outcomes.





## System Recommendation 6

Council requests that the Chamber of Commerce approach developers to donate land for housing needs and wraparound services on the left side of the housing continuum including, but not limited to, emergency shelters, transitional housing, supportive housing and wellness hubs.

The City must be prepared to facilitate the required approvals connected with these opportunitie<sup>-</sup> This should directly connect with the local collaborative plans (see System Recommendation 3).





# **System Recommendation 6:** Land for Housing Needs

### Based on the following key takeaways:

- Greater investments and flexibility with how and where funding can be used is required across all service areas to meet community needs.
- There is a lack of daytime low-barrier locations for people with substance issues to go to for social support, recreational opportunities, safe consumption and support services (e.g., similar to the Grove Youth Wellness Hub, but for adults). The Kingston Integrated Care Hub is a promising model that provides this type of support in one location.















## **Housing Recommendation 1**

Council requests the following to establish clarity and accountability regarding the City and the County's role in the housing continuum:

- a. A review of the governance model of the County of Wellington's Social Services Committee **b.** Updated service level agreements, with measurable outcomes, key performance indicators and clear expectations for reporting process and frequency
- c. The City of Guelph should hire a dedicated role to support (a), (b), and the implementation of a human rights-based approach to housing (see System Recommendation 1). This role should be an active member of the County of Wellington's Community Advisory Board.





## **Housing Recommendation 1:** Accountability

### Based on the following key takeaways:

- In Wellington County, homelessness is most visible in Guelph. For this reason, services on the far left of the housing continuum (e.g., emergency shelters) are all based in Guelph. This has led to confusion regarding roles, responsibilities, accountabilities and ownership of the left side of the housing continuum from partners and the community.
- The identified lack of a systems level collaborative approach to housing has and will continue to impact the ability to develop and implement community-based solutions in Guelph. A systems level collaborative model requires a commitment to a shared vision, accountability, defined mandates and roles.





## **Housing Recommendation 1:** Accountability

### How this could be operationalized:

- Review of City representation on the Social Services Committee
- Regular reporting from the County to the City



Review of City representation on the Community Advisory Board





## **Housing Recommendation 2**

Council requests that City staff undertake a review of the City's role and process in informing **funding decisions** for housing services on the left-side of the housing continuum (this includes funding for daytime shelter space).

This should directly connect with a human rights-based approach to housing (see System Recommendation 1), the local collaborative plans (see System Recommendation 3), and the City's role in the housing continuum (see Housing Recommendation 1).





# **Housing Recommendation 2: City's Role and Process to Fund** Housing

### Based on the following key takeaways:

- mandates and roles.
- was a noted challenge across municipalities in Ontario. Some into the community to best meet community needs.

The identified lack of a systems level collaborative approach to housing has and will continue to impact the ability to develop and implement community-based solutions in Guelph. A systems level collaborative model requires a commitment to a shared vision, accountability, defined

Funding for housing services on the left side of the housing continuum municipalities are looking for creative ways to flow housing funds



## **Housing Recommendation 3**

To be reviewed in Closed Session with Council.













### **Health Services Recommendation 1**

Council requests that City staff provide CMHA Waterloo Wellington with a **letter of support** for the funding application to the Ministry of Health for a **regional alternate care destination clinic**.





### **Health Services Recommendation 1: Support a Regional Alternate Care Destination Clinic**

### Based on the following key takeaways:

- support this model.
- system gap in the system wide scan in other communities as well.
- There is a lack of discharge planning for hospital/rehabilitation



The Alternate Care Destination Model (in London, Ontario) is an emerging best practice approach to provide mental health services outside of a hospital setting. Community partners in Guelph are preparing a funding proposal with support from Ontario Health West for this model to be developed and implemented in Guelph. There is not currently a dedicated funding stream to

There is a lack of discharge planning for hospital/rehabilitation programs to community-based mental health services and supports. This was noted as a programs to community-based substance use services and supports.



## **Health Services Recommendation 2**

Council requests that the Ministry of Health provide clarity on how all mental health services in **Guelph are funded**, including community based services, hospital/residential services and publicprivate models of care, to determine if the funding model impacts equitable access to mental health services in Guelph.





### **Health Services Recommendation 2: Equitable Access to Mental Health Services**

### Based on the following key takeaway:

The most vulnerable in our community without the means to pay out of pocket for services experience challenges and barriers in accessing mental health services.







## **Health Services Recommendation 3**

Council supports the Guelph Police Service (GPS) and CMHA Waterloo Wellington's second application to the Solicitor General for Here 24/7 & IMPACT funding.

Council requests that GPS provide a copy of the written submission to City staff when it has been finalized, so that staff may provide a letter of support on behalf of Council.





### **Health Services Recommendation 3: Support for Crisis Response** Funding

### Based on the following key takeaway:

Challenges were noted in the crisis response system, including inconsistent response times for the IMPACT program and Here 24/7.







### **Health Services Recommendation 4**

Council requests that the Wellington Guelph Drug Strategy continue to address known **substance use service barriers** including, but not limited to, funding, access and waitlists, to improve substance use services available to vulnerable populations within Guelph.





### **Health Services Recommendation 4: Substance Use Service Barriers**

### Based on the following key takeaways:

- substance use services.
- the system.



The most vulnerable in our community experience barriers in accessing

There is a lack of discharge planning for hospital/rehabilitation programs to community-based substance use services and supports. System navigation has been identified as a gap and is essential to support movement through



## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you to everyone who participated in this study from April 2023 - June 2023, including people with lived/living experience, community partners and City staff.

Thank you to City Council for receiving this report and presentation.

We welcome any questions that you may have.


# THANK YOU



www.collectiveresults.ca









HEAD OFFICE 1382 Weber Street East - Unit 1, Kitchener, ON N2A 1C4 p: 519 741 5845 | f: 1 - 519 741 8731

September 07, 2023

Mayor and Council – City of Guelph

Dear Mayor Guthrie and Council Members,

As a member of the Steering Committee of the GW OHT, I read with interest the final report, being tabled by Collective Results; A Review and Gap Analysis of Housing, Mental Health & Substance Use Services for People Experiencing Homelessness in Guelph. The report is thorough and comprehensive but has one glaring omission - the absence of any reference to brain injury. When brain injury is raised as a significant issue for this population, the most common response is yes, people who are homeless have a myriad of other issues and concurrent disorders, not just brain injury so why focus on brain injury. This is true, but there are studies indicating **that over 65% of people who are experiencing homelessness have a brain injury.** 

We are the sole provider of brain injury services in Guelph/Wellington, and we run a program in the City of Guelph called ABI in the Streets, where we not only provide ABI specialized supports to folks experiencing homelessness but complete a remarkably simple ABI screener called the HELPS Screening tool. <u>https://abitoolkit.ca/assets/images/HELPS-tool.pdf</u> We have run blitzes with this tool at the shelters, the Community Health Center, in the encampments and many other places over the past 24 months, and consistently our data shows that 65-70% of the people we screen, come up positive for a potential brain injury. In antidotal conversations with outreach staff and others, they clearly state that they think at least 70% of the clients they work with have a brain injury, if not more.

The symptoms of brain injury require a specialized approach, so not only do our staff provide that, but we have been offering training and support to many other organizations and front-line staff in the City



www.traverseindependence.ca Charity Registration # 107820524RR 0001 of Guelph. The clients who screen positive for a suspected brain injury are easily able to access our low barrier program and our front-line workers. Below I have included some links of the studies I am referring to around this issue.

Traverse Independence would be more than happy to offer more information on this pressing issue and offer support with the challenging and urgent issue related to homelessness in the City of Guelph as we believe brain injury is impacting the outcomes that the City of Guelph is trying to achieve.

Sincerely,

Toby Harris CEO, Traverse Independence

https://abinetwork.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Toronto-ABI-Network\_OHT-Guide\_Final\_Sept\_2021.pdf

http s://www.hom elesshu b.ca/resour c e/26 -tr aum a tic-br ain -i njur y- homeless-pop <u>ulation -</u> toronto -s tud y, <u>h ttp s://gl obaln ews. c a/news/6245863/hom eless -tr auma ti c- brain-i nju ry /</u>

https://www.cp24.com/news/brain-injury-endemic-among-homeless-populations-vancouver-research-1.5769428

cc: Stephen Gross - Board Chairperson, Traverse Independence

www.traverseindependence.ca

Charity Registration # 107820524RR 0001

# **Council Memo**



То	City Council
Service Area	Office of the Chief Administrative Officer
Date	Tuesday, September 12, 2023
Subject	Council Memo – Stakeholder Commentary

On Thursday, September 7, 2023 staff hosted a drop-in session for stakeholders engaged through this process to provide additional commentary following the release of the final report. This memo captures key themes of those discussions.

Overarching themes:

• It's important to recognize that there is a lot of data, and the system is very complicated. A limitation of this report is the limited scope and the challenge of compiling and analyzing data in a comprehensive way to make recommendations under the tight timelines that were given. Additionally, the focused scope of the project made it difficult for some service providers to provide answers in their full context of service delivery outside the scope of inquiry. One example of this is services for youth which were outside of the scope.

• As we look at governance going forward, stakeholders commented that this report can be a catalyst to doing things differently/better in a future state. There were general comments about the need for an overarching community vision and action plan, linked to service design and coordinated advocacy strategy vs addressing needs and gaps in a one-off approach.

• Lastly, it was noted that upstream prevention was out of scope for this report, but is critical to addressing the root causes of homelessness, mental health and substance use issues.

Comments related to specific recommendations:

System Recommendation 2: Council requests that the Government of Ontario develop and adopt a provincial housing strategy with measurable targets and sufficient funds for ending homelessness and ensuring access of all Ontarians, including those of limited income, to housing of an adequate standard without discrimination. It should also take into consideration the needs of Indigenous people, LGBTQ2S+ people, people with disabilities including mental illness, women experiencing domestic violence, lone parents, immigrants and newcomers, and people living in poverty or with low incomes.

• With respect to the above recommendation, it was noted that subject matter experts need to provide more specifics. Additionally, with all requests of other levels of government, there were questions about the contingency plans if calls to action are not met.

System Recommendation 3: Council requests that the Guelph Wellington Ontario Health Team work with the Guelph and Wellington Task Force for Poverty Elimination to: a. plan for the integration of health services in the housing sector (wraparound supports) b. address the community need for permanent supportive housing. This planning should include City, County and Ontario Health West representation and be aligned with provincial direction and/or strategy.

• Stakeholders were supportive of a leading role for the Ontario Health Team (OHT) given their mandate from the Province, and noted the need for clear governance and accountability.

• There are concerns about the capacity of the Poverty Taskforce and other stakeholders, but it is recognized that the expertise of these groups need to be included in some form.

System Recommendation 4: Council requests the County of Wellington, in collaboration with local municipalities and local health organizations, jointly advocate to the Ministry of Health to provide accessible base funding to support wraparound health supports on the left side of the housing continuum.

• This connects to the need for a broader community advocacy strategy that considers a variety of approaches and tactics.

System Recommendation 5: Council requests that the Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health Board of Health lead an ongoing, comprehensive outcome evaluation of the systems level approach to homelessness (housing, mental health and substance use focus), whether it be working with the Guelph Wellington Ontario Health Team or with the City and the County.

- Stakeholders noted this is an important and significant task (evaluation) if it is to be done well/thoughtfully.
- It requires resources in addition to what is currently available at Public Health. Additionally, more discussion is needed on the leadership role of Public Health in this work as recent provincial announcements have created some uncertainty around future roles and responsibilities of Public Health teams.

System Recommendation 6: Council requests that the Chamber of Commerce approach developers to donate land for housing needs and wraparound services on the left side of the housing continuum including, but not limited to, emergency shelters, transitional housing, supportive housing and wellness hubs. The City must be prepared to facilitate the required approvals connected with these opportunities. This should directly connect with the local collaborative plans (see System Recommendation 3).

• Stakeholders noted this is more of a tactic that lives inside of a larger strategy (see system recommendation 3). There needs to be a structure for how to work with potential donors and integrate opportunities to meet identified needs.

• It was also suggested that this recommendation could dovetail with work underway to consider city strategic real estate work and also any available county lands.

Housing Recommendation 1: Council requests the following to establish clarity and accountability regarding the City and the County's role in the housing continuum:

a. A review of the governance model of the County of Wellington's Social Services Committee.

b. Updated service level agreements, with measurable outcomes, key performance indicators and clear expectations for reporting process and frequency.

c. The City of Guelph should hire a dedicated role to support (a), (b), and the implementation of a human rights-based approach to housing (see System Recommendation 1). This role should be an active member of the County of Wellington's Community Advisory Board.

• Stakeholders felt this was an important recommendation that could have significant positive impacts.

Health Services Recommendation 1: Council requests that City staff provide Canadian Mental Health Association (CMHA) Waterloo Wellington with a letter of support for the funding application to the Ministry of Health for a regional alternate care destination clinic.

• It was noted that the City could do much more than provide a letter of support for a regional alternate care destination model, including connecting this recommendation to future conversations about strategic real estate.

Health Services Recommendation 2: Council requests that the Ministry of Health provide clarity on how all mental health services in Guelph are funded, including community-based services, hospital/residential services and public-private models of care, to determine if the funding model impacts equitable access to mental health services in Guelph.

• Stakeholders remarked this recommendation should be expanded to include substance use funding as well. There is chronic underfunding of the system noted throughout the report which needs action from other levels of government.

Health Services Recommendation 3: Council supports the Guelph Police Service (GPS) and CMHA Waterloo Wellington's second application to the Solicitor General for Here 24/7 & IMPACT funding. Council requests that GPS provide a copy of the written submission to City staff when it has been finalized so that staff may provide a letter of support on behalf of Council.

• As the community advances work on a regional alternate care destination model, the IMPACT funding request may evolve.

Health Services Recommendation 4: Council requests that the Wellington Guelph Drug Strategy continue to address known substance use service barriers including, but not limited to, funding, access and waitlists, to improve substance use services available to vulnerable populations within Guelph.

- Substance use systems challenges are well highlighted in the recommendations, however chronic underfunding across the system needs to be highlighted.
- The distinction between mental health and substance use isn't as separate as this report may suggest.
- In the event it's unclear in the report, the role of the Wellington Guelph Drug Strategy is more of advocacy/awareness vs service delivery.

# Attachments

None.

# **Memo Author**

Jodie Sales, General Manager, Strategy, Innovation and Intergovernmental Services

# This memo was approved by:

Colleen Clack-Bush Deputy Chief Administrative Officer Public Services 519-822-1260 extension 2588 colleen.clack-bush@guelph.ca

# This memo was recommended by:

Scott Stewart Chief Administrative Officer Office of the Chief Administrative Officer 519-822-1260 extension 2221 scott.stewart@guelph.ca

# **Council Memo**



То	City Council
Service Area	Public Services
Date	Tuesday, September 12, 2023
Subject	Edits to Consultant's Report and Presentation

Following feedback from key stakeholders, the consultants (Collective Results) wish to provide more clarity around their findings. A summary of those edits is listed below, and a more detailed version is included as Attachment-1 Detailed Report Edits and Attachment-2 Detailed Presentation Edits.

**Report Edits:** Page 49, Paragraph 3 – wording edits Page 50, Table 5 – table replaced with updated version Page 51, Figure 14 – figure replaced with updated version Page 52, Figure 15 - figure replaced with updated version Page 53, Figure 16 - figure replaced with updated version Page 54, Paragraph 1 – wording edits Page 54, Figure 17 - figure replaced with updated version Page 55, Figure 18 - figure replaced with updated version Page 58, last paragraph – wording edits Page 59, Paragraph 2 – wording edits Page 61, Paragraph 2 - wording edits Page 62, Paragraph 3 - wording edits Page 65, Key Takeaways - wording edits Page 79, Substance Use Key Takeaways - wording edits Presentation Edits

Slide 11 – wording edits

# Attachments

Attachment-1 Detailed Report Edits

# This memo was approved by:

Colleen Clack-Bush Deputy Chief Administrative Officer Public Services 519-822-1260 extension 2588 colleen.clack-bush@guelph.ca

# This memo was recommended by:

Scott Stewart Chief Administrative Officer Office of the Chief Administrative Officer 519-822-1260 extension 2221 scott.stewart@guelph.ca

# **Attachment-1 Detailed Report Edits**

• Report page numbers within the Council Package

# PG 49. Paragraph 3

Based on the organizations that completed the inventory of services, just over 19.9 46.5 million dollars is available for mental health services in Guelph. Across the five types of mental health services summarized in table 5, majority of these funds, 74%, are directed to hospital or residential treatment programs receive the largest proportion of these funds. Of those hospital and residential treatment beds, only 5 of 246 specialized elective beds are ward beds and the remaining 241 beds are private/semi private. As a result, individuals must have accommodation insurance coverage, or they must pay the accommodation portion out of pocket to access these programs. (Table 5).

Mental Health Service	Base Funding	One-Time Funding	Other Funding
Crisis Response	\$1,736,894.00	\$190,000.00	\$3,110,693.00
Psychiatry	\$5,297,242.00	\$0	\$0
Psychotherapy or Counselling Services	\$1,089,806.00	\$0	\$25,000.00 (Private Donors)
Hospital or Residential Treatment Programs	\$8,200,000.00	\$0	\$0
Other Mental Health Services	\$337,248.00	\$0	\$0

**PG 50.**Replace Table 5 with this table:

\*As reported by the 17 organizations that completed the Inventory of Services

PG 51: Replace figure 14 "crisis response services in Guelph" with new figure:

Figure X. Crisis response services in Guelph



1. Funding details not provided

2. Funding details captured within Substance Use - Harm Reduction

3. Funding details captured within Hospital or Residential Treatment

### PG 52: Replace figure 15 "Psychiatry services in Guelph" with new figure:



4. Funding details captured within Substance Use Services

PG 53: Replace figure 16 "Psychotherapy or counselling service in Guelph" with new figure:



# PG 54.

Of the 17 organizations that completed the inventory of services, two organizations indicated that they provide hospital or residential treatment services for mental health in Guelph. The majority of these services are provided by Homewood. The beds at Homewood include 246 specialized elective beds that are accessed by all Ontarians. Limited funding only allows 5 of these beds to be available as public ward beds. The remaining 241 specialized elective beds require individuals to have accommodation insurance or pay the accommodation portion out of pocket to access these programs. Homewood also has 58 CritiCall beds which are public ward beds and accessible to local patients. which has a public-private model that in most cases requires individuals to have insurance or pay the accommodation portion out of pocket to access these programs. All of the public funding for hospital or residential treatment services is provided by the Ministry of Health (Figure 17).

**PG. 54** Replace Figure 17 - "Hospital or residential treatment services in Guelph" with new figure:



Figure X. Hospital or residential treatment services in Guelph

1.Funding details captured within Crisis Response

2. Funding details captured within Substance Use Services





# PG 58 (last paragraph)

Community partner survey and interview participants expanded on gaps related to outpatient adult psychiatry detailing lack of local options and long waitlists for what is offered locally, especially for complex cases. Some participants also noted that these issues have substantial impacts when people require a diagnosis for access, but you need a psychiatrist to provide a diagnosis. Interestingly, it was mentioned by a community partner that the local count for psychiatrists reported to the Ministry of Health may be skewed because it includes Homewood's private care psychiatrists.

# PG 59. Paragraph 2

When discussing gaps with hospital or residential treatment programs, participants focused on the lack of local, accessible options since there are limited minimal public beds available locally (see the Hospital or Residential Treatment Programs in the Inventory of Services section above).

### PG 61. Paragraph 2

The most prominent suggestions focused on one shared collaborative vision with accountability measures and clarity on mandates and roles across mental health service agencies. This would include more transparency across all agencies, which has historically been challenging due to a prominent public sector-private sector tension (e.g., Homewood).

# PG 62. Paragraph 3

A systems level gap that emerged was a lack of investment in continuity of care, including transitions from hospital/residential treatment programs to community-based services. This approach requires a system reorientation from a medical model to invest in community-based services for mental health. Locally, this reorientation has not happened, as can be observed in terms of how funding is allocated at CMHA Waterloo Wellington (community care) versus Homewood (clinical/medical model of care).

# PG 65. Mental Health Key Takeaway Number 1. Replace with new text:

- 1. Lack of equitable access to services: The most vulnerable in our community without the means to pay out of pocket for services experience challenges and barriers in accessing mental health services. Examples include:
  - 1. Hospital or Residential Treatment Programs: There are access challenges to local treatment programs for mental health due to long waitlists, under funding and a limited number of public ward beds.74% of the local funding for mental health services flows to Homewood for residential treatment programs. Only five of these beds are ward beds. The remaining 241 beds are private/semi private. As a result, individuals must have accommodation insurance coverage, or they must pay the accommodation portion out of pocket to access these programs.
  - Psychiatry: The Ministry of Health counts for psychiatrists in Guelph may be skewed because they include psychiatrists offering private services at Homewood. This is a significant barrier to accessing funds for additional accessible psychiatric services and supports locally.

**Psychotherapy/Counselling:** There are very limited affordable or free counseling options available. For example, one organization without a mandate to provide mental health counselling secured funding from a private donor to offer free counselling services to increase accessibility to these services.

# PG 79. Substance Use Key Takeaways Number 1:

- 1. Lack of accessible services: The most vulnerable in our community experience barriers in accessing substance use services. Examples include:
  - Local Treatment Programs: There are access challenges to local treatment programs for substance use due to long waitlists, under funding and the existence of local public-private models of care programs (e.g., Homewood).

# **Attachment-2 Detailed Presentation Edits**

# Slide 11

- Access to local programs, services
  - Long wait lists
    - Housing supports (e.g., permanent supportive housing)
    - Mental health services (e.g., psychiatry, psychology, rehabilitation services)
    - Substance use services (e.g., withdrawal management, rehabilitation services)
  - Not always equitable
    - Offered during traditional work hours
    - Limited <u>Minimal</u> public ward beds available for residential treatment programs



# THE COUNTY OF WELLINGTON

2024/2025 Preliminary Budget Impacts Housing Service Division

County of Wellington
Social Services Department

SEPTEMBER 2023

Page 164 of 217

# Contents

Introduction
Roles and Responsibilities Across All Levels of Government5
Wellington-Guelph State of Housing and Homelessness6
Preventing Experiences of Homelessness8
Emergency Responses to Experiences of Homelessness10
Emergency Shelter System
Outreach Workers and Diversion/Rapid Rehousing Workers12
Transitions to and Retention of Housing Placements13
Transitional Housing14
Permanent Supportive Housing15
Rent Geared to Income (Social) Housing16
Rent Supplement Programme17
Maintenance Costs of Social and Affordable Housing Stock18
System Level Administrative Needs19
Summary of Preliminary Budget Increases in 202420
Affordable Rental Housing21
Primary Care, Mental Health, and Substance-Use/Addictions Services24
Appendix "A" – Housing Advocacy Plans25

# Introduction

The County of Wellington is designated by the Province of Ontario as the Consolidated Municipal Service Manager (Service System Manager) of social services for the Wellington service delivery area which includes the County of Wellington and the City of Guelph. Service System Managers across Ontario oversee the planning, management, and delivery of social services in a way that is integrated, peoplefocused and outcome-driven for residents.

Under the Housing Services Act, 2011, the County is responsible for the delivery and administration of provincially mandated rent supplement and government-funded affordable housing programmes as well as initiatives to prevent and address homelessness. This work is carried out by the Housing Services division of the Social Services department.

The Housing Services division is required to develop local 10-Year Housing and Homelessness Plans as well as 5-Year updates. These plans must be developed collaboratively with the public, and a variety of local stakeholders including municipal partners; Indigenous health organizations; health and human service organizations, shelter operators, and housing providers in the housing services system. The plans must include measurable strategic objectives and action plans that align with provincial policy, legislation and matters of provincial interest. The division is also required to report annually on progress made to the province and the public.

The 10-year Housing and Homelessness Plan for 2015 to 2024, the Five Year Update (2020), and Annual Reports up to 2022 can be found on the County of Wellington's website: <u>Policies and Planning - Housing - Wellington County</u>.

The division works to ensure that services funded by taxpayers are provided in a transparent manner that focuses on quality assurance and local priorities. By understanding the sociodemographic factors and the complex housing needs of the local area, leveraging support from all levels of government, and strengthening community partnerships, it develops and maintains a range of housing options and diverse housing stability supports which is a cornerstone in improving community well-being.

Current work of the Housing Services division is guided by the strategic objectives of the 5 Year Update (2020-2024) that were developed in consultation with the community and service partners.



The updated strategic objectives for 2020-2024 are as follows:			
1	To help low-income households close the gap between their incomes and housing expenses.		
2	To provide a range of housing stability supports to assist with housing retention and homelessness prevention.		
3	To offer a comprehensive range of supportive housing options for residents with complex needs due to aging, disabilities, mental health issues and addictions.		
4	To increase the supply and mix of affordable housing options for low- to moderate- income households.		
5	To end chronic homelessness.		
6	To promote client-centred, coordinated access to the housing and homelessness system		
7	To support the sustainability of the existing social and affordable housing stock.		
8	To foster access to culturally appropriate housing and homelessness services for Indigenous peoples.		

This 2024/25 Preliminary Budget Impacts document has been developed to provide County of Wellington County Council and Guelph City Council projected increases in municipal contributions to address unprecedented increased demands of housing services in the areas of administration, homelessness prevention, emergency shelters, transitional housing, rent supplements, supportive housing and maintenance the social and affordable housing stock.

This preliminary plan is being shared for information purposes in advance of being fully developed and formally presented in the County's 2024 Budget and 10-Year Plan process.

All budgetary increases in this document address the County's mandate as the Service System Manager for Housing Services and are meant to provide an order of magnitude. This plan does not consider all areas of the budget and County staff have yet to complete a line-by-line review of the budget for 2024 which will consider trends experienced over the remainder of 2023, inflation factors, and any updated information available provincially as well as locally.

# **Federal Government**

The federal government has a crown agency in charge of the national approach to housing called the Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC). This corporation's mandate is to "promote housing affordability and choice, facilitate access to, and competition and efficiency in the provision of, housing finance, protect the availability of adequate funding for housing at low cost, and generally contribute to the well-being of the housing sector in the national economy." (Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation, 2023). In 2017, CMHC released the National Housing Strategy which provides policies and programmes to help ensure that Canadians have access to affordable housing that meets their needs.

Through the National Housing Strategy, the Government of Canada provides funding that supports local projects offering low-cost loans and grants to increase the development of affordable rental housing buildings. The federal government also provides funding for portable housing benefits such as the Canada Ontario Housing Benefit and rent supplements that support housing stability for low-income rental households. Additionally, the federal government provides Reaching Home funding to provide dedicated funding to support homelessness initiatives.

# **Provincial Government**

The Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing oversees the funding and delivery of Housing Services delivered by local Service System Managers. This Ministry "works with local governments and partners across Ontario to build safe and strong urban and rural communities with dynamic local economies, a high quality of life and affordable and suitable homes for everyone." (Province of Ontario, 2023). The Ministry also provides funding to support government-funded affordable housing initiatives, rent supplements, and portable housing benefits as well as dedicated funds that support local initiatives to prevent and respond to homelessness.

# **Municipal Government**

In Ontario, municipal governments have responsibilities related to housing such as funding social housing and housing stability programmes through the local area Service System Manager. Municipalities are also responsible for land use planning policy, zoning, and development approvals that must align with provincial legislation and policy directives. Through this planning system, municipalities are to provide for an appropriate range and mix of housing options and densities required to meet the social, health and economic well-being of the current and future residents of their community.



# Wellington-Guelph State of Housing and Homelessness

### Vision for Wellington-Guelph from the current 10 Year Plan:

*Everyone in Guelph-Wellington can find and maintain an appropriate, safe, and affordable place to call home.* 

Having a place to call home is a necessity for everyone in our community, and the quality of that housing directly influences the health and well-being of its residents. When an individual or a household does not have stable housing, they cannot fully participate in our communities. There are 1.4 million households in Canada that do not have access to quality housing, which forces households to live in unsuitable, inadequate, and unaffordable homes (CMHC, 2022).

A recent Ontario Chamber of Commerce paper highlighted that the housing affordability crisis is significantly impacting the ability of businesses to attract and retain talent. Their recent Business Confidence Survey showed that 68% of organizations in Ontario continue to report labour shortages (Ontario Chamber of Commerce, 2023). The ability to find a maintain an appropriate, safe, and affordable place to call home impacts the personal and economic well-being of our communities.

# Local Housing Context

### Population Growth in the Wellington-Guelph service area

According to the 2021 Census, the Wellington-Guelph service area has a total population of 241,026. The Wellington-Guelph population has increased by 8.2% since the 2016 Census which is well above the provincial population increase of 5.8% for Ontario.

# Limited Housing Options and Affordability in Wellington-Guelph

There is a history of low vacancy rates in Wellington-Guelph which puts pressure on the need for affordable housing in our area. Results from the CMHC Rental Market Survey show that apartment vacancy rates in the Wellington-Guelph service area were below 2% from 2011 until 2018.

From 2019 onward, Guelph Census Metropolitan Area (Guelph CMA) vacancy rates have been used as a proxy for the Wellington-Guelph service area. Guelph CMA is made up of the City of Guelph, Puslinch, and Guelph/Eramosa. Historically Guelph CMA vacancy rates have been very similar to Wellington-Guelph area vacancy rates, and as such are an appropriate proxy to use when the Wellington-Guelph service area data is not available. Guelph CMA vacancy rates have remained at or below 2% since 2018, with the 2022 apartment vacancy rate sitting at 1.5% indicating "tight" rental market conditions that is well below the 3% vacancy rate which is considered a "healthy" threshold.

Low vacancy rates like this make it challenging for prospective tenants to secure any type of rental housing and create a local situation where there is little turnover of units priced at the lower end of the

market. Further, low vacancy rates provide greater pricing power for units that are vacated, as evidenced by high monthly rent charges.

Housing Services conducts environmental scans of asking rents in our service area on an annual basis. In 2019 the average asking rent for a 1-bedroom apartment was \$1,358.00 and in 2022 it was \$1,971.00 demonstrating a 45% increase (\$613.00).

# Primary Rental Market Units in Wellington-Guelph

The CMHC Rental Market Survey also provides information about the number of primary rental apartment units in Guelph CMA. As the table below demonstrates, the number of units has increased minimally with only 321 more units in 2022 compared to 2019 (an increase of 4.3%).

	Oct	Oct	Oct	Oct
	2019	2020	2021	2022
Bachelor	200	203	205	206
1 Bedroom	2,471	2,609	2,642	2,662
2 Bedroom	4,476	4,512	4,635	4,599
3 Bedroom +	287	286	290	288
Total	7,434	7,610	7,772	7,755

Table 1: Primary Rental Market Units in Guelph CMA

# Wellington-Guelph Households in Core Housing Need

Core housing need is a vital indicator of community well-being that considers three factors: Adequacy - if the dwelling in need of major repair; Suitability - if there are enough bedrooms for the size and make-up of the household; Affordability - if the households spend 30% or more of their before-tax income on accommodation. Households are in core housing need when they live in inadequate, unsuitable, or unaffordable dwellings, and are not able to afford alternative housing in the community.

According to the 2021 Census, there are a total of 7,690 households in Wellington-Guelph, including both owner households and tenant households. Overall, nearly 10% of all households in Wellington-Guelph were living in core housing need. For renter households the rate is much higher with 20.6% in core housing need. The main reason for households being in core housing need is due to affordability.

# State of Housing and Homelessness Summary

The pressures in the market-based system resulting from low vacancy rates, limited housing options, lack of affordable rent charges, many households in core housing needs result in more individuals and families struggling with housing instability. All these factors result in greater pressures on the local the housing system and services delivered by social services.

Steps need to be taken to ensure that the housing and homelessness system in Wellington-Guelph can continue to meet the needs of individuals experiencing homelessness and prevent experiences of homelessness by supporting households through moments of housing instability.

The Wellington-Guelph community has drawn on the work of Stephen Gaetz and Erin Dej, *A New Direction: A Framework for Homelessness Prevention* (2017), to structure the work of the local housing services system into three main focuses:

- Preventing Experiences of Homelessness
- Emergency Responses to Experiences of Homelessness
- Transitions to and Retention of a Permanent Housing Solution





First, **you can prevent it** – that is, put in place mechanisms to stop or greatly reduce the risk that people will become homeless in the first place.

Second, you can provide emergency services (e.g., shelters, soup kitchens, day programs) because no matter how good your prevention strategies are, some people will experience difficulties that result in the loss of their housing and home.



Finally, **you can move people into housing with necessary supports** to reduce the risk of recurrence, ideally as rapidly as possible, so that the period one experiences homelessness is as short as possible.

(Dej, 2017)

# Preventing Experiences of Homelessness

The Housing Services division delivers a Housing Stability Programme that helps address financial issues that can destabilize households. Based on eligibility criteria, households can receive one-time financial assistance to address their rental and/or utility arrears to prevent them from losing their housing. At times, a portion of the Rent Supplement Programme funding (see page 17) can be provided to eligible households to pay for first and last month's rent and other moving costs associated with securing a new permanent housing solution.

Over the past number of years, there has been significant increases in both the need for and the costs to prevent experiences of homelessness. Figures 1 and 2 show the significant increases in pressures for homelessness prevention supports. Figure 1 shows the number of supports issued annually since 2018 and a projected number for 2023 (based on support trends in the first half of 2023). Figure 2 shows the financial impact of higher costs associated with the increase in homelessness prevention supports.



Figure 1: Housing Stability Programme payments from 2018 to 2023.

The decline in payments and expenditures in 2020 could be attributed to Landlord and Tenant Board suspending the process of issuing new eviction orders and the province issuing a moratorium on utility disconnections. The increase in expenditures in 2021 could be attributed to Landlord Tenant Board expediting hearings for evictions and the moratorium on utility disconnections being lifted.



Figure 2: Below shows the annual expenses of the Housing Stability Programme from 2018 to 2023.

The average Housing Stability Programme payment in 2018 was approximately \$548.00 while in 2023 the average payment is projected to be approximately \$983.00. There is a strong need for rental arrears and first and last month's rent support as they remain two of the most used categories of the housing stability programme.

County of Wellington Social Services Department

Additional funding for the Housing Stability Programme will be used to address the increased demand for assisting eligible households with utility and rent arrears and one-time rental fees/moving costs for them to maintain their current housing or attain new housing.

# Preliminary Additional Investments to Prevent/Reduce Experiences of Homelessness

# A budget increase of \$500,000 is planned for 2024. This will be an ongoing cost throughout the 10-year plan.

# **Key Performance Indicators**

- Increase in number of households experiencing housing stability.
- Increase in number of individuals and families diverted from emergency shelter.

# Emergency Responses to Experiences of Homelessness

The Housing Services division administers multiple 'housing focused' strategies to support individuals who are experiencing homelessness. Delivered through community partners, these supports include emergency shelter system as well as positions to support individuals who experiencing homelessness throughout the community. Outreach Workers connect with and support those experiencing unsheltered homelessness. Diversion/Rapid Rehousing Workers support individuals to quickly find alternate housing solutions to avoid a long duration of homelessness.

# **Emergency Shelter System**



The Housing Services division routinely collects data and monitors the By-Name List which tracks individuals experiencing chronic homelessness. In addition, the division collects and monitors live data related to all emergency shelter services.

The average number of unique individuals accessing emergency shelters has risen from 52 in 2018, to 79 in 2022. Data collected from January-June 2023 shows that there has been a substantial increase, with an average of 105 individuals accessing emergency shelters on a nightly basis. Preliminary data for August 2023 shows a continuing increase. The data also shows that they duration for which individuals are accessing emergency shelters has also increased since 2018.







Figure 4: Average Length of Stay in Emergency Shelter Over Time (2018 To 2023)

NB: 2023 utilizes a backward rolling year for Q2 dating July 1,2022 to June 30, 2023.

There is also a rise in the number of families experiencing homelessness in the past year. There was an average of 4 individuals in a family situation in July 2022, and in 2023, there is an average of 20 individuals in a family situation. Families are also needing emergency shelter services for longer periods of time due to the scarcity of available rental units. The decrease of available spaces in motels and higher motel rates has impacted the ability of the Housing Services division to accommodate families experiencing homelessness.

The existing emergency shelter system as of July 2023 (not including Women in Crisis) provides a total of 41 beds for adults and youth in addition to 43 units with multiple occupancy. These services are offered by Stepping Stone who operate two locations for adults and families, and Wyndham House who operate one location for youth. The Housing Services division regularly uses motels for any overflow.

Sustaining and expanding the current emergency shelter system is a high priority for the Housing Services division in 2023/24.

In 2023, emergency shelter expansion plans include:

- Shelter for Families at 1 Waterloo (16 beds) commencing October 1
- Substance-free Adult Shelter for males at Hwy 6 (22 beds) commencing October 1
- Maintaining use of 540 Silvercreek Pkwy (43 units)

For 2024, Housing Services will continue using 540 Silvercreek Pkwy on a temporary basis to accommodate overflow. The division is also in the preliminary stages of plans to add 27 more emergency shelter beds at 23 Gordon in Guelph.

Plans in 2024 also include efforts to stabilize and support the emergency shelter workforce which will include new training requirements to implement updated Emergency Shelter Standards developed by the Housing Services division in 2023.

Enhanced funding for the emergency shelter services will support retention of current shelter staff and the operation of 65 new emergency shelter beds. It will also support maintaining 540 Silvercreek Pkwy. N., on a temporary basis as an overflow site.

# Preliminary Additional Investments to Sustain and Increase Emergency Shelter Capacity

# A budget increase of \$2,1 million is planned for 2024. The annualized cost will be \$2.3 million beginning in 2025.

### **Key Performance Indicators**

- Increased number of individuals and families accessing the emergency shelter system.
- Decrease in the number of individuals living in unsheltered homeless conditions.
- Decrease in motel/hotel expenditures.

# Outreach Workers and Diversion/Rapid Rehousing Workers

Housing Services currently provides funding to a community agency for 2 FTE Outreach Workers that offer support to unsheltered individuals across the service delivery area. In 2022, the Outreach Workers supported 145 unique individuals in our community.

Additionally, Housing Services provides funding to community agencies for 3 FTE Diversion/Rapid Rehousing Workers who help individuals to quickly find and secure appropriate housing solutions. In 2022, Diversion and Rapid Rehousing Workers supported 144 youth and 91 adults, diverting these individuals away from the youth and adult emergency shelters respectively. Figure 5: Diversion and Rapid Rehousing data for 2022



The 2023 emergency shelter data and the By-Name List data demonstrate the need for increased support to respond to individuals who are experiencing homelessness and assist them to achieve a new housing solution as quickly as possible.

Additional funding will be used increase the number of Outreach Workers and Diversion/Rapid Rehousing Workers in Wellington County and in Guelph, including an Indigenous Outreach Worker.

# Preliminary Additional Investments for Emergency Responses to Experiences of Homelessness

A budget increase of \$180,000 is planned for 2024 with an annualized cost of 300,00 beginning in 2025.

### Key Performance Indicators

- Decrease in the number of unique individuals using the emergency shelter system nightly.
- Decrease in the average length of stay in the emergency shelter system.

# Transitions to and Retention of Housing Placements

Transitions to and Retention of Housing Placements looks at finding permanent housing solutions for those who are experiencing homelessness or chronic homelessness. Depending on the needs of the individual or household, this can include solutions in market-based rental, social, affordable, transitional, or supportive housing. Each approach encompasses a broad range of services, resources and supports with the goal of obtaining permanent housing.



# **Transitional Housing**



Transitional Housing provides individuals with temporary safe and stable housing as an intermediate step between emergency shelters and permanent housing. Transitional housing is an important part of the Housing Continuum as it alleviates pressures in the emergency shelter system, helps prevent individuals from returning to homelessness, and supports their wellbeing as they work towards a suitable permanent housing solution.



(Figure 6: Above shows the Transitional Housing data in 2022 from the 2022 Wellington-Guelph Housing and Homelessness Plan Annual Report: A Place to Call Home.)

Transitional housing programmes have existed in our community for several years and have traditionally been intended to meet the needs of youth experiencing homelessness, or pregnant and parenting women and their children. These programmes have had tremendous success in helping individuals and families attain and maintain a permanent housing solution.

Staff at transitional housing programmes build relationships with the individual, address and support their immediate needs while working alongside individuals to create a longer-term housing plan. Permanent housing plans may include prioritization for supportive housing placement or access to another affordable permanent housing solution.

The lack of transitional housing for adults is a significant gap in our community's housing system.

In July 2024, the County will be opening 28 transitional housing units at 65 Delhi St. which will help to fill the gap in the system. Housing Services is also in the preliminary stages of creating 15 additional transitional housing units in Guelph to open in November 2024.

County of Wellington Social Services Department

Additional funding will be used to support the operation of 43 new transitional housing units.

# Preliminary Additional Investments for Transitional Housing Investments

# A budget increase of \$ 314,000 is planned for 2024 with an annualized cost of \$982,000 beginning in 2025.

# **Key Performance Indicators**

**Permanent Supportive Housing** 

- Increase in the number of housing placements from chronic homelessness
- Increase retention of obtained housing

# Image: Construction of the second second

Supportive housing is a key element in enabling people with complex needs to find stable housing, lead fulfilling lives, and live as independently as possible in their community. Providing people with appropriate housing and supports promotes housing stability and their wellbeing.

For several years, the Housing Services division has worked with our local health partners to deliver a supportive housing programme that is scattered across many sites in the service delivery area. This programme currently supports 45 units across our service area with a priority of supporting those that are at-risk of or experiencing homelessness.

More recently, large investments have been made from all levels of government to increase the permanent supportive housing infrastructure. While these developments will have a substantial impact on our community's By-Name List, more supportive housing options are needed across our service delivery area to support our most vulnerable residents. The current priority is to support the operational funding of the new developments created at Grace Gardens (32 units for adults), Bellevue (16 units for youth) and Shelldale (32 units for adults).

Operating funds provided by Housing Services will support Housing Stability Workers (not health-related positions or services), at 3 of the 4 locations. A funding application for the full operational costs of the Shelldale site in addition to paramedical services for all listed sites is being submitted to the Ministry of Health through the local Ontario Health Team.

Additional funding will be used for community-based Housing Stability positions to support the operation of 48 units serving adults and youth.

# Preliminary Additional Investments for Supportive Housing

A budget increase of \$776,000 is planned for 2024. This will be an ongoing cost throughout the 10-year plan.

### Key Performance Indicators

- Increase in the number of households experiencing housing stability
- Decrease in the number of tenant households at-risk of homelessness
- Decrease in the number of evictions

# Rent Geared to Income (Social) Housing



# Housing Services by the Numbers - 2022 Snapshot



(Figure 7: Above shows the Rent-Geared-To-Income (RGI) data in 2022 from the 2022 Wellington-Guelph Housing and Homelessness Plan Annual Report: A Place to Call Home.)

The County owns and manages a large portfolio of social housing properties throughout our service area and is responsible for the oversight of dozens of local social and affordable housing providers. As of December 31, 2022, the division supported a portfolio of 2,508 units of Rent Geared to Income housing options.

The division supports another 489 households with funding to live more affordably, with many of these units also including a dedicated support structure to help make sure that they remain stably housed.



(Figure 8: Above shows the Rent Support Households data in 2022 from the 2022 Wellington-Guelph Housing and Homelessness Plan Annual Report: A Place to Call Home.)

# Pressures on Existing Social Housing System

The need for social housing stock is growing as affordable private market rental options are extremely difficult to find. The number of households waiting for social housing in Wellington-Guelph has risen from 1,986 households at the start of 2019, to 3,183 households at the end July 2023. While there has been a slight decrease as Q2 in 2023, a significant demand beyond supply for social housing remains.



Figure 9: Number of Households on the Wellington-Guelph Centralized Waiting List (2019 to Q2 2023)

# **Rent Supplement Programme**

In addition to the Rent-Geared to Income programme, the Rent Supplement Programme helps fill the affordability gap for individuals experiencing homelessness to obtain permanent housing in the private rental market. This funding has been a key driver of our community's reduction in homelessness by supporting 1,073 housing placements since 2018. Without this movement off the By-Name List, there would be more individuals experiencing homelessness in our community today, our shelters would be overloaded, and many households would be forced into unsheltered homelessness.

County of Wellington Social Services Department

An increase to this programme will gradually provide rent supplement funding to approximately 50 additional households in 2024 with additional households in 2025.

# Preliminary Additional Investments for the Rent Supplement Programme

# A budget increase of \$500,000 is planned for 2024 with an annualized cost to \$900,00 beginning in 2025.

# **Key Performance Indicators**

- Decreased need of emergency shelters
- Decrease in the number of people experiencing chronic homelessness.

# Maintenance Costs of Social and Affordable Housing Stock

The costs to maintain the County owned social housing stock have also dramatically increased in 2023, largely due increased costs of labour and materials, higher insurance claims, increasing the use of abatement companies to deal with small asbestos remediations, increased move out costs, and eviction delays at the Landlord Tenant Board.

# Move Out Trends and Costs

Turnover costs of units continue to add pressure to the maintenance budgets of all social housing providers. The numbers below are for move out costs in the County's owned housing stock:

- Between January 1 and June 30, 2023, there were 67 move outs.
- The average unit turnover costs for units closed out between January 1 and June 30, 2023, is \$9,011.
- The top ten most expensive move outs during the first 6 months of 2023 averaged \$48,579 per move out.
- Move out expenses for the first half of 2023 were \$856,245. 56.7% (\$485,788) of those expenses were from 14.9% of the move outs.

# **Tenant Charge Backs**

Tenant charge backs related to tenant neglect or willful damage units has dramatically increased in the first half of 2023. The numbers below show the total tenant charge backs issued in the past 5 years. Decreases in 2021 and 2022 can be attributed to the pandemic when many move outs and transfers were cancelled or postponed. It should be noted that tenant charge backs usually go unpaid.

- **2019:** \$103,071
- **2020:** \$104,157
- **2021:** \$56,789
- **2022:** \$57,722
- **2023:** \$109,065 (January 1, 2023, to July 25, 2023). Projected to be \$186,969.

# Preliminary Additional Investments for Maintenance of the Social and Affordable Housing Stock

# A budget increase of \$700,000 is planned for 2024. This will be an ongoing cost throughout the 10-year plan.

County of Wellington Social Services Department

# System Level Administrative Needs

Additional investments are needed to enhance the Housing Services division's ability to plan, monitor and enhance the delivery of services across the housing continuum. The number of individuals newly experiencing homelessness and housing instability outweighs the staffing resources to support them within the housing stability system.

New positions include an additional Housing Stability Caseworker, a Data Analyst Coordinator, and temporary Housing System Trainer. A new Learning Management System will support online training for staff and community agencies who deliver services across the housing continuum.

# Additional Administration Positions

A budget increase of \$259,000 is planned for 2024 with an annualized cost of \$311,000 beginning in 2025.


#### Summary of Preliminary Budget Increases in 2024

Incremental Budget Increase	2024
Homelessness Prevention	\$500,000
Enhanced funding to support households with Utility Arrears and One Time Rental	
Costs (delivered by Housing Services)	
Emergency Shelters	\$2,105,000
Increase staff compensation, operation of 65 new shelter beds, continued use of 540	
Silvercreek Pkwy N., as overflow (contracted service)	
Emergency Responses to Homelessness	\$180,000
Increased contracted positions for Outreach and Diversion/Rapid Rehousing Workers	
(contracted service)	
Transitional Housing	\$314,000
Operation of 43 new additional transitional housing units (contracted service)	
Permanent Supportive Housing	\$776,000
Financial support for housing stability positions supporting 48 units for adults and	
youth (contracted service)	
Rent Supplements	\$500,000
Enhanced funding for housing people experiencing homelessness (delivered by	
Housing Services)	
Maintenance Costs	\$700,000
Enhanced funding to support increased costs to adequately maintain the current	
social and affordable housing stock.	
Administration	\$259,000
Funding to support 2 permanent and 1 temporary positions (Housing Services	
division)	
TOTAL	\$5,334,000

Costs throughout this report and summarized above are full municipal costs. It is projected that once appropriate costs splits have been applied the City share will be approximately \$4.6 million while the County share will be \$734,000.

Additional incremental costs of \$1.3 million (\$1.15 million City and \$150,000 County) will be experienced in 2025 as a result of the phase in of the programme changes outlined above.



#### Affordable Rental Housing



The County directly owns and manages a portfolio of government-funded affordable housing properties throughout our service area and is responsible for the oversight of over a dozen local affordable housing providers. Since 2006, the County as Services System Manager responsible for the delivery of federal and provincial affordable rental housing development funding has invested \$49,309,893 in the development of affordable rental housing options. Figure 10 (below) shows the breakdown of the 681 units of affordable housing options that make up the portfolio supported by the division as of December 31, 2022.

Figure 10: Affordable Housing Households supported by Housing Services Division in 2022



Figure 11, which appears on the following page, illustrates the development of governmentfunded affordable housing units in Wellington-Guelph service area between 2005 and 2022. In total, 482 units have been built during this period.



Figure 11: Affordable Housing Development (2005-2022)

### **Affordable Housing Development**

The Housing Services Division has supported the development of 482 units of housing since 2005.



County of Wellington Social Services Department

#### Pressures on existing Affordable Housing System

Affordability in Wellington-Guelph is a major barrier of the ability of many households to find and maintain a safe and appropriate home. When we look at the "Wellington-Guelph State of Housing and Homelessness" section at the beginning of this document, there are several data sets that are cause for concern.

The staggering increase in rental rates over a short time is a top concern. Housing Services conducts environmental scans of asking rents in our service area on an annual basis every spring. In 2019 the average asking rent for a 1-bedroom apartment was \$1,358 and in 2022 it was \$1,971 demonstrating a 45% increase (\$613). This level of inflation is not sustainable for the average household. Rent controls will protect households that aren't changing addresses, but those that need to move due to any number of reasons like a new job, growing family, changing communities, family relationship breakdown, will be facing very high rents.

The Core Housing Need data from the 2021 census, indicates that 7,690 households are already struggling with housing affordability.

The Wellington-Guelph is one of the fastest growing parts of Canada, with population growth rates far exceeding provincial averages. The rental rates will continue to climb as the demand for rental units grows, which will place more pressure on lower income households in Wellington-Guelph.

Increased affordable housing options are needed. The Housing Services division is working with potential affordable rental housing developers to bring more government-funded affordable units into the community. While the division is a delivery agent for federal and provincial capital funding initiatives (grants or long-term lower cost loans), funding is limited to the availability and timing of funds which often have a short turn around for applications. Programmes like the National Co-Investment Fund is a competitive process that requires local "co-investments" for a project to be eligible for the lower cost loans and grants which means that local investments are critical to creating more government funded affordable housing.

The funding needed to increase the availability of affordable housing options to the level of need in Wellington-Guelph would be significant. There were 7,690 households experiencing housing affordability concerns in 2021 in just the Guelph CMA. This number has likely risen over the last two years since the census was conducted. Investments from all levels are needed, but local investments need to be large enough and dependable for developers (Non-Profit or For-Profit) to be able to leverage commitments from upper levels of government. Long-term strategic plans around this level of investment are needed at the local level.

While there are no funding increases being requested in the 2024 Housing Services budget for additional government-funded affordable housing, the County will continue to work with local municipalities and housing service providers to leverage opportunities to build more government-funded affordable housing. (See Appendix A-Housing Advocacy Plans)

#### Primary Care, Mental Health, and Substance-Use/Addictions Services

Health and housing are basic needs that should be attainable for everyone in our community. However, timely access to appropriate health services and affordable housing are major barriers in our service area. This is especially true for individuals at risk of or experiencing chronic homelessness.

This document unpacks several housing focused investments to help households find and maintain an appropriate, safe, and affordable place to call home. Without access to appropriate health supports many housing placements will not be successful. Wellington-Guelph will not end homelessness in our community unless our residents receive timely access to appropriate health services and support.

Transitional and supportive housing options represent an important intersection between health and housing, where our community's housing infrastructure provides space for our community's most vulnerable to call home while accessing the primary care, mental health and substance use services in a consistent way that meets the resident where they are at in their health journey. Our community has been making large scale investments in this important housing stock, and health partners are securing the health investments needed to operationalize these projects. However, our system needs more intentional connections with health to support our community's most vulnerable.

Bringing health support into the housing continuum, including the emergency shelter system is a key step to ensure that individuals that are new to experiences of homelessness, or individuals with chronic experiences of homelessness can have timely access to services and supports.

The Housing Services division is currently working with local health agencies to submit funding proposals for health services to Ontario Health West to support the operational support needs of the supportive and transitional housing programmes, as well as some housing focused and community-based health investments.

While no increases to the Housing Services 2024 budget is being requested to support health services, the County will support applications to from other levels of government to meet this critical need in making housing solutions successful (See Appendix A-Housing Advocacy Plans).



#### Appendix "A" – Housing Advocacy Plans

The following section will examine the interactions between housing and various systems and the importance of active collaboration towards preventing and ending homelessness. The intention is to use the recommendations below to focus advocacy efforts over the next two years.

#### **Municipal Government and Local Departments**

By collaborating with local municipal government and local departments such as Libraries, Planning Divisions, Emergency Management and Emergency Services together as a community we can make meaningful strides towards preventing and ending chronic homelessness and lasting commitments to the development of affordable housing in Wellington-Guelph.

- Affordable Housing Reserves are important tools to support developing affordable rental housing and accessing funding from upper levels of government.
- **Libraries** are truly meant to serve everyone in Wellington-Guelph, and this is evident in our community. Libraries across Wellington-Guelph have been great at providing welcoming spaces for community members that are experiencing homelessness.
- **Community Centres** are social hubs located across Wellington-Guelph where individuals and families of all walks of life gather. This hotspot can be explored in a new lens to explore new programming around housing stability and homelessness prevention and access to showers, bathrooms, and basic amenities.
- **Planning Divisions/Departments** (both County and City) finding ways to increase the development of primary rental units, with a particular focus on the development of affordable primary rental.
- Emergency Management (both County and City) to develop a partnership and interact between systems towards a common solution when community members lose their housing and methods to provide wrap-around preventative services.
- **Emergency Services** (both County and City including Fire, Police and Paramedics) to continue the great work with vulnerable populations who face trauma, mental health challenges, addictions to support housing focused solutions.

#### **Provincial Government**

The County of Wellington Housing Services' role as a Services System Managers allows the opportunity to collaborate and communicate with various levels of government. Over the next two years, an emphasis on collaboration with both Provincial and Federal Government towards local solutions and increasing funding allocations will strengthen community sustainability of services programmes and work towards community goals.

#### Provincial Government Advocacy

- **Expansion of the Canada-Ontario Community Housing Initiative (COCHI)** allows ability to support the sustainability of existing community housing in Wellington-Guelph.
- **Expansion of the Ontario Housing Priorities Initiative (OPHI)** allows for meaningful commitments to affordable housing development.

- Large-scale investment in the Canada Ontario Housing Benefit (COHB) to support more households with affordable housing with rising rent costs in the private rental market.
- Substantial investment into the Landlord and Tenant Board (LTB) to enhance the process for timely mediations and avoid lengthy delays which inevitability led to increased rental arrears and increased housing instability.
- No Discharges from Institutions into Homelessness call to stop discharges directly into homelessness from institutions (justice and health) and develop preventative and housing first practices to reduce inflow into homelessness.
- **Collaboration across Ministries with the BNL** working with the local Ontario Health Teams' (OHT) to prioritize health partners to be more housing focused on their work and prioritizing local By-Name Lists community members for services and supports.

#### Expansion of Provincial Social Assistance Programmes (OW and ODSP)

Basic Needs Allowance and Shelter Benefit Rates are too low to support households in the current housing market. Since the early 1990's, there has been little change to the rate structures resulting in immediate risks and increased housing instability for all OW and ODSP recipients.

- **Basic Needs Allowances** should be increased annually to match inflation.
- **Shelter Benefit Rates** should be converted to a portable housing benefit like the Canada-Ontario Housing Benefit (COHB).
- **Review of Shelter Rate Tables for Rent-Geared-to-Income rent calculations** Social Housing providers should be able to access up to the entire shelter benefit rates for households on social assistance. This approach will provide more rental income to support the capital needs of the housing providers.
- Noted by the Office of the Auditor General of Ontario in the Value-for-Money Audit: Homelessness December 2021 Report, "According to data from the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation, the provincial average rental cost of a one-bedroom apartment in October 2020 was \$1,241 per month. That was \$72 more than the maximum Ontario Disability Support Program monthly payment for a single person and \$508 above the top monthly support payment to an eligible Ontario Works recipient."

#### **Health Systems**

If every individual or family were housed today, it does not mean that every housing solution would be successful due to the unique and diverse levels of on-going support needs to increase housing stability and retention. These supports can range from access to Primary Care, Addictions and Mental Health Supports. The collaboration between both Health and Housing systems is pivotal towards ending chronic homelessness and represents a continued shift from managing homelessness to ending homelessness. This shift happens by being housing focused and supporting community members to remain housed wherever possible and ensuring periods of homelessness are as brief as possible and not recurring.

• No Discharges from Institutions into Homelessness – As previously mentioned in the Provincial Government section. There is a significant need for preventative approaches and a shift away from discharging into homelessness for individuals.

- Noted by the Office of the Auditor General of Ontario in the Value-for-Money Audit: Homelessness December 2021 Report, *"In the health-care system, over 5,000 people experiencing homelessness were discharged from hospital after receiving inpatient care in 2019/20."*
- Collaboration across Ministries with the BNL As previously mentioned in the Provincial Government section, there is a significant need for advocacy and collaboration with the local Ontario Health Teams (OHT) and prioritizing community members on the BNL for access to health care services.
- **Timely Access to Addiction Treatment Services** Wellington-Guelph community members currently have lengthy wait times to access treatment programmes and facilities.
- Expansion of Assertive Community Treatment Team (ACTT) for Wellington-Guelph the current ratio of ACTT teams is 1:120,000. Currently Wellington-Guelph has 1 team working out of Homewood Health.

#### Justice System

Wellington-Guelph's area is near multiple correctional facilities including Maplehurst Correctional Complex (Milton), Vanier Centre for Women (Milton), and Grand Valley Institution for Women (Kitchener).

- **No Discharges from Institutions into Homelessness** previously mentioned in Provincial Government and Health System sections.
  - Noted by the Office of the Auditor General of Ontario in the Value-for-Money Audit: Homelessness December 2021 Report, "... over the last three fiscal years ending 2020/21, an average of almost 3,900 individuals with no stable housing were released from custody each year."

#### **Federal Government**

- Significant and large-scale funding increase to the National Housing Strategy (NHS) and to the main pillars.
  - Canada-Ontario Housing Benefit (COHB) as mentioned in the Provincial Government section earlier, an expansion to the COHB programme will allow capacity to support additional households as the private rental market costs continue to increase while Wellington-Guelph experiences extremely low vacancy rates.
  - Reaching Home
  - Co-Investment Fund
  - Rapid Housing Initiative
  - Seed Funding



County of Wellington Social Services Department

### Staff Report



То	City Council
Service Area	Infrastructure, Development and Enterprise Services
Date	Tuesday, September 12, 2023
Subject	Housing Affordability Strategy – Project Initiation

#### Recommendation

1. That Report 2023-331 from Planning and Building Services regarding the initiation of the Housing Affordability Strategy project, dated September 12, 2023, be received.

#### **Executive Summary**

#### **Purpose of Report**

To present the phases, anticipated timeline and deliverables for the Housing Affordability Strategy to Council. It is expected that the project will be completed by Q4 of 2024.

#### **Key Findings**

The city of Guelph is a desirable place to live. As a result, Guelph has seen steady growth coupled with an increasingly more expensive housing market (ownership and rental).

We continue to experience challenges with the affordability of housing. The market, alongside existing government funding programs and various policy levers, does not deliver enough housing that is at a level of affordability to meet community needs.

There have been significant legislative changes since the release of the 2017 AHS, largely in response to widespread acknowledgement of a substantial lack of affordable housing. Examples of provincial legislation and policy guidance that were introduced to collectively facilitate the provision of housing in Ontario include:

- the More Homes for Everyone Act, 2022 (Bill 109),
- the More Homes Built Faster Act, 2022 (Bill 23),
- the Better Municipal Governance Act, 2022 (Bill 39),
- the Helping Homebuyers, Protecting Tenants Act, 2023 (Bill 97), and,
- revisions to the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS) (2023).

The overall objective of HAS is to identify actions (i.e., policy refinements, tools, and incentives), advocacy, and partnership approaches to address private-market housing gaps in the short, medium, and long term.

The first step of the strategy will be to prepare a Housing Affordability Gap Analysis, as part of the State of Housing Report, to be completed by year-end 2023.

The HAS also involves analyzing the capacity of properties in the city of Guelph to accommodate gentle density, or the equivalent of four or more units. There is currently an RFP for this part of the HAS, and staff anticipate having a preliminary technical background report by Q4 2023.

The deliverables in the subsequent stages of the HAS will be largely determined through the results of the housing affordability gap analysis, as well as through continuous agency and community collaboration and engagement.

This HAS will assume an "all-hands-on-deck" approach to addressing housing supply challenges and promote a strong commitment to enhanced collaboration with Wellington County, the University of Guelph, Conestoga College, non-profit and for-profit housing organizations, Urban Indigenous residents, LGBTQ2S+, and the community-at-large to best meet the community and Council's expectations.

#### Strategic Plan Alignment

The HAS will help inform how best to facilitate the development of housing that can be affordable to the majority of the citizens of Guelph at a time of significant challenge and legislative change.

This project specifically aligns with the **City Building theme** by focusing on growth and all the supporting elements needed to make Guelph a more liveable city. Specifically, this project will:

- Help to increase the availability of housing that meets community needs
- Work with partners and the community to create smart programs and policies that enable more people to obtain housing.

With respect to key performance indicators, this update will provide some information on the percentage of affordable residential units (ownership and rental) within the city of Guelph.

#### **Financial Implications**

The recommended actions of the recommended HAS are anticipated to require financial support. Details will be provided to Council through future reports as the strategy is developed.

#### Report

#### Background

The city of Guelph is a desirable place to live. As a result, Guelph has seen steady growth in recent years. Since the approval of the 2017 Affordable Housing Strategy (2017 AHS) the province has updated population projections through A Place to Grow and imposed housing targets that exceed our growth projections.

We continue to experience challenges with the affordability of housing; existing government funding programs and various policy levers does not deliver enough affordable housing to meet community needs. There is a lack of equilibrium between the number of residents to be housed, household income, and the availability of new affordable ownership housing and/or purpose-built rental.

City staff need to continue to ask questions, through this strategy development, around:

- What are the key market, policy, regulatory and process barriers to delivering the full range of housing types, including mid-rise housing (also referred to as missing middle), especially in strategic growth areas (nodes and corridors) and residential neighborhoods?
- What kinds of decision-making approaches should we be exploring continuing with a more enabling/facilitating approach to housing, which can mean reacting to housing challenges, a rights-based approach, or another decision-making model that may emerge from this project?
- What opportunities does the City of Guelph have to address barriers to increase housing supply and housing diversity, and create more affordable housing opportunities across the income continuum?

The 2017 AHS addressed municipal requirements under the Provincial Policy Statement (2014) and the Provincial Growth Plan (2006) and built on the City's Official Plan Update (OPA 48), which established a framework for planning for a range and mix of housing types and densities, through appropriate land use designations and supporting policies. The 2017 AHS focused on identifying policy drivers, roles, responsibilities, and tools available to the City to advance meeting targets for affordable private market rental and home ownership housing for lowand moderate-income households.

There have been significant legislative changes since the release of the 2017 AHS, largely in response to widespread acknowledgement of a substantial lack of affordable housing. The More Homes for Everyone Act, 2022 (Bill 109), the More Homes Built Faster Act, 2022 (Bill 23), and the Better Municipal Governance Act, 2022 (Bill 39), are examples of pieces of legislation that were introduced to collectively facilitate the provision of housing in Ontario, although the focus is not necessarily on affordable housing.

#### **Roles and Responsibilities**

The primary responsibility for affordable housing rests with the Federal and Provincial governments, through housing policies, legislation, and funding. The County of Wellington is the local-designated housing service manager, with considerable expertise and responsibility for administering a range of housing programs, services, and funding in the local context, including the provision of nonmarket (subsidized) housing.

City staff are primarily responsible for facilitating private-market housing - housing that is bought and sold through a realtor or directly from a developer or private market rental. Essentially, the City can lay the groundwork for how many units are needed, the kinds of units, (e.g., single-detached homes, semi-detached, townhomes, apartments, etc.), and where they can go within Guelph.

The City does have a limited role (primarily funding) to play in helping Wellington County address the portion of the housing continuum between homelessness and community housing. Enhanced collaboration between the City and Wellington County is anticipated through this update to create Housing Affordability Strategy that captures the relationship towards providing affordable housing along all parts of the housing continuum.

The City does not have the authority, in most cases, to ensure that a developer will build housing that is affordable according to an accepted provincial definition. The City also does not have the authority to force a developer to build within a certain

timeframe nor influence either the price a developer decides to list a new housing unit for or resale housing prices within the private market.

The City has identified, through the Shaping Guelph studies including the Residential Intensification Analysis, the Land Needs Assessment, the Growth Management Strategy, and Official Plan Amendment 80, an abundant capacity to accommodate a range and mix of housing. The challenge remains on how to unlock the capacity in a way that can contribute to more affordable housing in Guelph.

An update to the 2017 AHS is necessary to position the city of Guelph to grow in alignment with Provincial direction and contribute to facilitating the creation of more affordable housing to Guelph's residents. This is what the Housing Affordability Strategy aims to accomplish.

#### **Defining Affordability in a Changing Provincial Policy Environment**

In this context, it is important to note that "affordable" is a broad term that can include housing provided by the private, public, and non-profit sectors. The term "affordable" also includes all forms of housing tenure: rental, ownership and cooperative ownership, as well as temporary and permanent housing. From the City's jurisdictional perspective, and therefore that of the Housing Affordability Strategy, much of the focus of this work will be facilitating housing on the right-hand side of the housing continuum, including affordable rental, affordable ownership, market rental, and market ownership.

The City currently uses the Province's definition of "affordable" within the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS, 2020) to refer to housing where the purchase price does not exceed 30 per cent of a purchaser's before-tax income; or, in the case of rental units, the least expensive of a unit for which the rent does not exceed 30 per cent of annual before-tax income or where rent is set at or below the average market rate, for low-and moderate-income households (an annual income at the 60<sup>th</sup> percentile or less within the market area).

Based on this definition, as of 2023, about \$429,016 is considered an affordable house price in Guelph and about \$1,434 is considered affordable monthly rent.

Based on a signal from the Province through the introduction of the More Homes Built Faster Act, 2022 (Bill 23), and as of April 6, 2022, when the definition of "affordable" was proposed to be removed from the Provincial Planning Statement, a market-based definition of "affordable" introduced through Bill 23's Development Charges Act may soon apply. This would increase the home ownership affordability threshold from \$429,016 to approximately \$640,000 for home ownership.

Beyond the Provincial definition of housing affordability (price-to-income ratio), there are several other measures that can include expenditure-to-income ratio, residual income indicators, housing quality indicators, and more subjective indicators around satisfaction-level. There is the potential to explore these measures further within the parameters of this project.

#### Purpose and Goals of the Housing Affordability Strategy

The overall purpose of the Housing Affordability Strategy is to identify actions, advocacy, and partnership approaches to address private-market housing gaps in the short, medium, and long term – this is the market where the City has the greatest, albeit limited, ability to influence. A secondary, equally important purpose is to strengthen relationships and enhance collaboration with Wellington County,

the University of Guelph, Conestoga College, non-profit and for-profit housing agencies, Urban Indigenous residents, LGBTQ2S+, and residents of our community throughout this project update so that the final deliverable, the recommended strategy, will more clearly align the relationships towards providing housing affordability in the private market and non-market housing.

Specifically, focusing on the overall purpose, the Housing Affordability Strategy will accomplish the following goals, working together with a consultant team:

- Goal 1: Enable a greater supply and mix of housing
- Goal 2: Maximize and protect the use of existing housing resulting in a greater supply of affordable housing
- Goal 3: Enhance capacity, awareness, and supports for affordable housing throughout the community.

#### **Workplan and Deliverables**

To accomplish the goals, Table 1, below, presents an overview of the phased work plan for the Housing Affordability Strategy. It is intended that a more detailed work plan, including a community engagement and communications plan, will be developed shortly after receipt and approval of the Project Charter, in collaboration with the selected consultants. However, the Project Charter (Attachment 1) provides some more detailed information on each phase of the project. The five phases of the workplan are:

- Phase One (1) Project Initiation
- Phase Two (2) Research and Information Gathering
- Phase Three (3) Identify Goals and Targets
- Phase Four (4) Identify Actions
- Phase Five (5) Finalize Housing Affordability Strategy

Each phase is described further in Table 1.

Table 1: Housing Affordability Strategy Project Phases and Timeline

Phase	Description	Timing
Phase One (1)	<ul> <li>Project Initiation</li> <li>Present a high-level workplan and timeline to Council</li> </ul>	Q3 2023
	<ul> <li>Deliverables</li> <li>Housing Affordability Strategy Project Charter</li> <li>RFP for the Gentle Density Background Review and Design Demonstrations for As-of-Right Permissions for Four (4) or More Units</li> <li>RFP for the Housing Affordability Strategy</li> </ul>	
Phase Two (2)	<ul> <li>Research and Information Gathering</li> <li>Identify specific local housing needs through an update to the 2015 State of Housing report as an input into the Strategy so that we can (a) identify and understand the housing affordability gaps within Guelph, and (b) better tie affordability to household incomes to allow for better assessment of the impact of proposed approaches to address housing affordability.</li> <li>Initiate work related to the capacity for lots in the city of</li> </ul>	Q4 2023

Phase	Description	Timing	
	Guelph to accommodate four (4) or more units (gentle density). This work stems from direction provided by Council in April 2023, as the Comprehensive Zoning Bylaw was being approved. Staff, working with a consultant, will identify what properties in Guelph could potentially accommodate four or more units, using various development standards (e.g., parking, setbacks) and provide recommendations for permissions.		
	<b>Deliverables</b> <ol> <li>Detailed Communication and Engagement Plan for 2024</li> </ol>		
	<ol> <li>State of Housing Report, including the Housing Affordability Gap Analysis</li> </ol>		
	3. Background Technical Analysis on the Gentle Density (Four [4] or more units) work		
Phase Three (3)	<ul> <li>Identify Goals and Targets</li> <li>Develop goals and targets that address housing the housing affordability gaps, in collaboration and consultation with key stakeholders and the public.</li> </ul>	Q1 and Q2 2024	
	<ul> <li>Deliverables</li> <li>1. Survey One (1): Accessory Unit Survey – completed approximately every five years, this survey identifies the number of accessory units in Guelph and the associated rents.</li> </ul>		
	<ol> <li>Survey Two (2): Interest in Building Additional Residential Units (ARDU) Survey – this survey will build on Survey One (1), as well as seek to obtain baseline information on the appetite from current homeowners on their interest in creating additional residential units and what additional type of information would be helpful to streamline this process.</li> </ol>		
	3. Survey Three (3): Zoning Regulations, Demography, and Affordability Profile - This survey would complement the work on the four or more units component of the Strategy. This survey would collect information that can be used to approximate how many units could be built under current zoning regulations and under which demographic profiles would this could be affordable. This would involve looking outside of the typical university student market, and more into the secondary rental markets (i.e., rented accessory apartment, two rented units in a triplex, and/or rented condominium apartments).		
Phase Four (4)	<ul> <li>Identify Actions</li> <li>Develop goals and targets that address housing the housing affordability gaps, in collaboration and</li> </ul>	Q2 2024	

Phase	Description	Timing
	<ul> <li>consultation with key stakeholders and the public.</li> <li>Identify recommended strategic actions and an associate monitoring framework, anchored in ongoing community engagement and the updated Directions Report, to facilitate meeting targets for affordable private market rental and home ownership for low- and moderate-income households through a review and update to the 2016 Strategic Actions Report.</li> </ul>	
	<ol> <li>Deliverables</li> <li>Proforma Analysis to describe the existing and potential market demand for a variety of housing typologies and tenures including, but not limited to single and semi- detached, duplex, townhouse, staked townhouse, multiplex, low rise apartment, and five (5) to eight (8)- storey apartments (linked to the four or more unit component of this project).</li> </ol>	
	2. Strategic Actions Report	
Phase Five (5)	<ul> <li>Finalize Housing Affordability Strategy</li> <li>Develop draft recommendations for Council, stakeholder and community review and feedback that can then be used to finalize the Final Housing Affordability Strategy for Guelph.</li> </ul>	Q3/4 2024
	<ul><li>Deliverable</li><li>Housing Affordability Strategy</li></ul>	

For Phase Two (2), the Research and Information Gathering stage, staff will provide an update on items such as vacancy rates, rental (primary and secondary rental market) rates, purpose-built rental rates, owner vs rental rates, core housing need, and housing starts. A full listing of the data that will accompany the State of Housing Report, anticipated in Q4 of 2023 in Attachment-1.

#### Engagement

To provide added confidence in the level and strength of collaboration across the community regarding the goals, targets, actions, and recommendations that will be reflected in the Housing Affordability Strategy, feedback will be gathered through staff-led research and public engagement. Specific groups that staff anticipate engaging with over the course of the project include:

- County of Wellington housing services and planning staff
- Relevant City departments
- Committees of Council and interagency committees
- Academic researchers
- Not-for-profit housing providers
- Co-operative housing providers
- For-profit housing providers

- Urban-Indigenous housing providers
- LGBTQ2S+
- Housing support service providers
- Real estate industry professionals
- Post-secondary institutions and student associations
- Individuals with lived experience
- Community advocacy groups

• Members of the general public

#### **Measures of Success**

Expectations are high for finding solutions to the challenges around housing supply across the country, but more specifically, in Guelph. Managing the scope of this project is essential, as is the ability to acquire and analyze housing need and supply information in a timely, collaborative, and comprehensive way. The success of this project will be measured by supporting, and being supported by, key internal departments, the Province, Wellington County, the University of Guelph, Conestoga College, Urban Indigenous residents, LGBTQ2S+, non-profit and for-profit housing sectors, and the community-at-large.

Ultimately, this project's success will result in a strategy that clearly identifies how to best address the housing affordability challenges within our community and what further steps the City can take to facilitate the creation of a range and mix of housing stock, primarily from a private-market perspective, that will meet the needs of current and future residents.

#### **Next Steps**

Data collection and analysis will begin. Housing need and supply data will be collected, and affordable housing benchmarks will be reviewed and updated. The data will focus on the affordability, suitability and adequacy of housing needs and supply so that any gaps in housing affordability can be identified by year-end 2023. A review of the secondary rental market is also anticipated given the increased supply and significance of this housing option in the City of Guelph.

#### **Financial Implications**

The recommended actions of the recommended Housing Affordability Strategy are anticipated to require financial support. Details will be provided to Council through future reports as the strategy is developed.

#### Consultations

An engagement strategy will be initiated to ensure that consultation and feedback from all stakeholders will be collected throughout the entire project, thoughtfully analyzed, and included in the direction for how the latter phases of the Housing Affordability Strategy will be presented to Council. Staff met with the <u>Planning</u> <u>Advisory Committee</u> in Spring 2023 to provide some information regarding the project initiation and requested any early feedback from the group. The committee provided direction on exploring definitions for "affordable" considering the potential change from an income to market-based approach, as well as enhancing partnerships and collaboration with the development community, particularly smallscale residential developers.

It is anticipated that information and/or recommendation reports to Council will be provided at key stages of this project update:

- Q4 of 2023 when the housing gap analysis/State of Housing report is completed,
- Q2 of 2024 when the results of various surveys are available, and
- Q3 of 2024 when the recommended draft Housing Affordability Strategy is ready for review.

#### Attachments

Attachment-1 List of Data to be Analyzed for the upcoming State of Housing Report (Q4/2023)

Attachment-2 Housing Affordability Strategy Staff Presentation

#### **Departmental Approval**

Melissa Aldunate, MCIP, RPP, Manager of Policy Planning and Urban Design

#### **Report Author**

Cushla Matthews, MCIP, RPP, Senior Policy Planner

#### This report was approved by:

Krista Walkey, MCIP, RPP General Manager, Planning and Building Services Infrastructure, Development and Enterprise Services 519-822-1260 extension 2395 krista.walkey@guelph.ca

#### This report was recommended by:

Jayne Holmes, P.Eng., PMP Deputy Chief Administrative Officer Infrastructure, Development and Enterprise Services 519-822-1260 extension 2248 jayne.holmes@guelph.ca

### Attachment-1 List of Data to be Analyzed for the Upcoming State of Housing Report (Q4/2023)

- 1. Population characteristics
  - Population and household growth
  - Age distribution
  - Immigration and migration
- 2. Labour force characteristics
  - Unemployment rates
  - Commuting patterns
  - Industry and occupation employment earnings
- 3. Income statistics
  - Income distribution
  - Incidence of low income
  - Income by household
- 4. Household characteristics
  - Household size
  - Household types
  - Age of primary household maintainer
  - Tenure
- 5. Housing supply
  - Existing housing stock
  - Supply by structure type
  - Residential development
  - Residential permits
  - Residential demolitions
  - Condominium conversions
- 6. Rental market statistics
  - Average market rents
  - Vacancy rates
  - Primary rental market statistics
  - Secondary rental market statistics
  - Additional residential dwelling unit creation
  - Market rental rate statistics
- 7. Housing ownership statistics
  - New housing prices
  - Resale housing prices

- 8. Non-market housing statistics
- 9. Core housing need
  - Housing affordability
  - Housing suitability
  - Housing adequacy
  - Housing need statistics

#### 10.Affordable housing benchmarks

- Rental benchmarks
- Ownership benchmarks



Page 202 of the Page 202 of th



# **Why** are we preparing a Housing Affordability Strategy?



Page 203 of 217 2



# Affordable housing benchmark – home ownership





(Income needed = \$122,539)





(Income needed = \$97,342)

• based on 2015 and 2020 income from the Census incomes, adjusted for Consumer Price Index



Page 204 of 217

3



# Affordable housing benchmarks – rental units



• based on 2015 and 2020 income from the Census incomes, adjusted for Consumer Price Index



Page 205 of 217 4



### Housing Price Comparison - New



**Apartments** 



**Single Detached** 

Semi Detached

Townhouses



### Housing Price Comparison - Resale







### Income Comparison in Guelph – 2022 & 2017



Income has increased an average of **31%**. Housing prices have increased an average of **59%** (new) and **79%** (resale).

There is a significant gap



Page 208 of 217 7



### Vacancy Rates – 1996 to 2022





Years

Vacancy Rate — Balanced & Healthy Supply



### To accommodate 208,000 people...



Total Households (Units) -Current (2021)







## We also know...



In the last 5 years, no primary affordable rental units were built outside of those that were incented



The definition of "affordable" is likely to be removed from Provincial policy



Finding solutions to housing affordability requires highly collaborative approaches



10 Page 211 of 217



## What Can the City Do?



Page 212 of 217 $_{11}$ 



## Project Purpose & Goals

#### **Purpose:**

- a) define the problem statement
- b) identify actions, advocacy, and partnership approaches to address private-market housing gaps

**Goal 1:** Enable a greater supply and mix of housing

**Goal 2:** Maximize and protect the use of existing housing resulting in a greater supply of affordable housing

**Goal 3:** Enhance capacity, awareness, and supports for affordable housing







#### **Collaboration & Engagement**

Page 214 of 217



## Who will participate?

County of Wellington housing services and planning staff	Relevant City departments	Committees of Council and inter- agency committees	Not-for-profit housing providers
Co-operative housing providers	For-profit housing providers	Urban-Indigenous housing providers	LGBTQ2S+ community
Housing support service providers	Real estate industry professionals	Post-secondary institutions and student associations	Individuals with lived experience
	Community advocacy groups	Members of the general public	Page 21

Page 215 of 217<sub>14</sub>



# Thank you



Page 216 of 217<sub>15</sub>